TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY DOCTORAL THESIS 10/2019

Organocatalytic Asymmetric Michael Addition to Cyclopropyl Derivatives

KÄRT REITEL



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Science Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree 13/02/2019

Supervisor:

Prof. Tõnis Kanger School of Science Tallinn University of Technology Tallinn, Estonia

Opponents:

Prof. Eugenijus Butkus Life Sciences Center Vilnius University Vilnius, Lithuania

Senior Researcher Uno Mäeorg Department of Chemistry University of Tartu Tartu, Estonia

Defence of the thesis: 15/03/2019, Tallinn

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for doctoral or equivalent academic degree.

Kärt Reitel



European Union European Regional Development Fund Investing in your future

Copyright: Kärt Reitel, 2019 ISSN 2585-6898 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-83-399-3 (publication) ISSN 2585-6901 (PDF) ISBN 978-9949-83-400-6 (PDF) signature

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL DOKTORITÖÖ 10/2019

Tsüklopropaani derivaatide asümmeetriline organokatalüütiline Michaeli liitumisreaktsioon

KÄRT REITEL



Contents

List of Publications 6
Author's Contribution to the Publications7
Introduction
Abbreviations
1 Literature overview 11 1.1 Aminocatalytic Michael reaction 11 1.1.1 Asymmetric aminocatalytic Michael reaction 13 1.1.2 Revised mechanism for the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes 18 catalyzed by diaryl prolinol silyl ether 18
1.2 Synthesis of cyclopropane ring-containing amino acid precursors
1.2.1 Michael-initiated ring closure (MIRC) 20 1.2.2 Kulinkovich reaction 26 1.2.3 Summary of the synthesis of cyclopropane ring-containing amino acid precursors 29 1.3 [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones 29
2 Aims of the present work
3 Results and discussion
Conclusions
4 Experimental
References
Abstract61
Lühikokkuvõte
Appendix
Curriculum vitae
Elulookirjeldus

List of Publications

The list of author's publications, on the basis of which the thesis has been prepared:

- I Reitel, K.; Lippur, K.; Järving, I.; Kudrjašova, M.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Asymmetric Aminocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopropane-Containing Aldehydes to Nitroalkenes. *Synthesis*, **2013**, *45*, 2679-2683.
- II Kaasik, M.; Noole, A.; Reitel, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T. Organocatalytic Conjugate Addition of Cyclopropylacetaldehyde Derivatives to Nitro Olefins: en Route to β- and γ-Amino Acids. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry*, **2015**, *8*, 1745-1753.
- III Reitel, K.; Kriis, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T. Study of asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β-ketoester *Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds*, **2018**, *54*, 929-933.

Author's Contribution to the Publications

Contribution to the papers in this thesis are:

- I Planning and carrying out of all of the experiments, characterization of the obtained products, and a major role in the manuscript preparation.
- II Planning and carrying out of some of the experiments, characterization of some obtained products, and a minor role in the manuscript preparation.
- III Planning and carrying out of all of the experiments, characterization of the obtained products, and a major role in the manuscript preparation.

Introduction

Organocatalysis has received a lot of attention in organic synthesis and in addition to other catalytic systems due to the advantages of these processes in terms of synthetic efficiency and sustainability¹. Small enantiopure molecules are utilized as catalysts to achieve the target synthesis in a short and stereoselective manner in a wide range of solvents and for a broad scope of substrates.

An organocatalytic Michael reaction is the nucleophilic addition of a carbanion or another nucleophile to an α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compound, catalyzed by primary or secondary amines via enamine intermediates. During the reaction a new carbon-carbon bond is formed.² In year 1963 Stork et al³ demonstrated the use of enamines in stoichiometric reactions for α -functionalization of carbonyl compounds. The first catalytic approach to enamines was published in the early 1970's simultaneously by two groups: Hajos and Parrish,⁴ and Eder, Sauer and Wiechert.⁵

There are several methods for generating a new carbon-carbon bond, but the development of an asymmetric organocatalytic conjugate addition remains an important challenge in organic synthesis.

This doctoral thesis is focused on an enantioselective organocatalyzed Michael addition applied for the synthesis of a cyclopropyl group containing compounds. A cyclopropane ring fragment can be found in many natural and synthetic compounds, and exhibit a wide range of biological activities. In the course of the work a general and straightforward method for the synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors was developed. The reaction allowed the one-step introduction of a cyclopropane ring and two different nitrogen-containing functional groups into the target compound (Publications I and II). Additionally, the selective [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones was investigated in order to afford chiral butenolides (Publication III).

Abbreviations

Ar	aryl
Asn	Asparagine
Asp	L-aspartic acid
Bn	benzyl
Вос	tert-butyloxycarbonyl
Bu	butyl
Су	cyclohexyl
DBU	1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene
DCE	1,2-dichloroethane
DCM	dichloromethane
DMAP	N,N-dimethylaminopyridine
DME	1,2-dimethoxyethane
d.r.	diastereomeric ratio
ee	enantiomeric excess
e.r.	enantiomeric ratio
EWG	electron-withdrawing group
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
Gln	Glutamine
HFIP	hexafluoroisopropanol
Et	ethyl
LG	leaving group
Me	methyl
MIRC	Michael-initsiated ring closure

<i>n</i> Bu	normal butyl
NMM	<i>N</i> -methylmorpholine
<i>i</i> Pr	isopropyl
<i>n</i> Pr	normal propyl
PCC	pyridinium chlorochromate
PG	protecting group
Ph	phenyl
p <i>K</i> a	acid dissociation constant at logarithmic scale
Pro	L-proline
PPTS	pyridinium <i>para</i> -toluene sulfonate
РТС	phase transfer catalyst
p-TsOH	para-toluenesulfonic acid
R	unspecified substituent
rt	room temperature
TADDOL	$\alpha, \alpha, \alpha', \alpha'$ -tetraaryl-1,3-dioxolane-4,5-dimethanol
TBAI	tetrabutylammonium iodide
<i>t</i> Bu	<i>tert</i> -butyl
TBS	<i>tert</i> -butyldimethysilyl
TCICA	trichloroisocyanuric acid
TEA	triethylamine
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
ΤΕΜΡΟ	2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidinoxy
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TMS	trimethylsilyl
TS	transition state

1 Literature overview

The Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes is of particular interest because of the valuable synthetic intermediates γ -nitro carbonyl compounds⁶ that are generated. The nitro group allows various asymmetric transformations into other functional groups leading to a variety of useful building blocks, such as chiral γ -amino alcohols⁷, γ -amino acids⁸, γ -butyrolactones⁹ and substituted pyrrolidines^{10,11}.

The literature overview covers the Michael reaction catalyzed by proline-based organocatalysts following the enamine pathway.

1.1 Aminocatalytic Michael reaction

The Michael reaction is a powerful tool in organic chemistry; during the Michael addition a new carbon-carbon bond is formed. The reaction itself is the nucleophilic addition of a carbanion or another nucleophile to an α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compound or to a double bond connected to a strongly electron-withdrawing substituent. In the asymmetric aminocatalytic Michael reaction, a chiral catalyst is used and the catalytic system involves enamine or iminium activation with chiral secondary or primary amines (Scheme 1).¹² In the catalytic cycle an iminium ion I is generated by the reversible reaction between a chiral amine catalyst and a carbonyl compound. The formation of nucleophilic enamine intermediate II occurs because of the deprotonation at the α -position of the iminium ion, due to the increase of C-H acidity. Then a nucleophilic addition of the obtained enolate equivalent II to an electron poor double bond connected with a strongly electron-withdrawing substituent affords an α -substituted iminium ion III. After hydrolysis the Michael adduct IV is formed and the regenerated catalyst is ready to start a new catalytic cycle.



Scheme 1. Catalytic cycle of the Michael reaction.

The stereochemistry of the product is determined by facial selectivity of the nucleophilic attack of the enamine and can be explained by the limiting "electronic" or "steric" transition states (Figure 1). The geometry of the enamine (E or Z) is determined by the catalyst structure. The *E*-enamine is thermodynamically favored due to steric shielding and is predominant unless other interactions favor the *Z*-enamine (Figure 1).

The relative size of the two sides of the *E*-enamine depends on the carbonyl substituent X. The hydrogen from aldehyde starting material leads to the formation of the relatively more stable *anti*-rotamer; in the case of ketones, the less-hindered moiety is the double bond, which gives *syn*-rotamer, as long as other interactions are not involved. However, the stabilizing H-bonding in the transition state can force the formation of *syn*-rotamer in the case of ketones.¹²



Figure 1. The geometry of the enamine and transition states.¹²

It may be concluded that in the catalytic enantioselective conjugate addition the preferred diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity depend on electronic or steric interactions and the absolute configuration of the chiral catalyst.

In 1981 the Michael addition of achiral enamines with aliphatic, alicyclic and arylsubstituted nitro olefins affording γ -nitroketones in good yields and excellent diastereoselectivities was published by Seebach and co-workers¹³. Morpholine was used to generate the (*E*)-enamine **1** (Scheme 2). To explain the excellent diastereoselectivity, they proposed a rule known as Seebach's topological rule.¹³ (This general rule is applicable to many donor-acceptor π -systems.)



Scheme 2. Michael addition of (E)-enamine to (E)-nitro olefin.

As shown in Figure 2, in aprotic media, under kinetic control, the preferred approach of two prochiral centers can be predicted (Figures 2a, 2b and 2c). All the existing bonds are staggered. The donor (enamine) (C=D)-bond is in a *gauche* (synclinal) arrangement between the (C=A) and the (C-H)-bonds of the acceptor (α , β -unsaturated system), with the H-atom, the smaller substituent on the donor component, in an anti (antiperiplanar) position with respect to the (C=A)-bond (Figure 2a). If the components can exist in (*E/Z*) (*anti/syn*)-isomeric forms (Figures 2b and 2c), the actual donor and acceptor atoms are situated close to each other (to minimize the charge separation or to allow for chelation of metal ions).



Figure 2. Seebach's topological rule.13

In a Michael addition of enamine derived from the amine and carbonyl group to nitro olefin, the enamine double bond is in a *gauche* arrangement between the C=C and C-H bond (Figure 3). As the donor (enamine) and acceptor (α , β -unsaturated system) atoms are situated close to each other, the bigger substituent on enamine is an antiperiplanar position with respect to the C=A bond (Figure 1c), leading to the *Re, Re* approach and affording *syn* product.





The rule may not hold when very bulky groups R¹, R² and substituents on Y are present or the protic solvent is used an anti- rather than *gauche*-relationship, allowing better solvation of the donor and acceptor heteroatoms, is kinetically preferred.

1.1.1 Asymmetric aminocatalytic Michael reaction

Over the years, a significant number of different catalytic systems for a Michael reaction have been used¹⁴; in 2001 the organocatalytic version of a Michael reaction was developed independently by List et al¹⁵ and Betancourt and Barbas III¹⁶. The List group reported the proline-catalyzed Michael addition of unmodified ketones to nitro olefins with modest enantioselectivities (Scheme 3).¹⁴



Scheme 3. An L-proline 5 catalyzed Michael addition of ketones 4 to nitrostyrene 2a.

Only a few months later, Betancourt and Barbas III published an (*S*)-2-(morpholinomethyl)-pyrrolidine **8** catalyzed Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to nitro olefins **2** (Scheme 4).¹⁶ The reaction proceeded in good yield (up to 96%) and in a high *syn*-selective manner (*d.r.* up to 98:2). They explained the high obtained *syn*-selectivity through an acyclic synclinal model, in which there are favorable electrostatic interactions between the partially positive nitrogen of the enamine and the partially negative nitro group in the transition state. The approach of the nitro olefin from the less hindered *Si*-face of the enamine would produce the observed stereochemistry.¹⁶ The proposed transition state is depicted in Scheme 4.



Scheme 4. (*S*)-2-(morpholinomethyl)-pyrrolidine *8* catalyzed Michael addition of aldehydes to nitro olefins.

In 2005 Hayashi et al¹⁷ reported a diphenylprolinol silyl ether **10a** catalyzed asymmetric Michael addition of aldehydes **7** and nitro alkenes **2** (Scheme 5); the adducts **9** were obtained in nearly optically pure forms in almost all cases. The introduction of a siloxy group into the proline structure led to an increase in the catalytic activity, allowing a decrease in catalyst loading and shorter reaction times. The increase in catalytic activity can be explained by the effective formation of the corresponding enamine without the generation of the aminal, which would be formed in the case of diphenylprolinol. And the bulky diphenylsiloxymethyl group on the pyrrolidine ring promoted the selective formation of the *anti*-enamine and selective shielding of the *Re*-face of the enamine double bond.



Scheme 5. Catalytic asymmetric Michael reaction of aldehydes 7 and nitro alkenes 2.

At the same time Jørgensen et al discovered that diphenylprolinol silyl ether is an effective organocatalyst for the Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to methylvinyl ketone **11**.¹⁸ They found that *S*-diarylprolinol silyl ether **12** catalyzed a Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to methylvinyl ketone **11** is highly <u>stereoselective</u> and all products were obtained in high yields and excellent enantiomeric excesses (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6. Organocatalyzed enantioselective Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to methylvinyl ketone **11**.

They also investigated the effect of catalyst structure on the enantioselectivity of the reaction. They concluded that the asymmetric induction observed with catalyst *S*-diarylprolinol silyl ether completely relies on selective enamine conformation and steric shielding. The bulky aryl and silyl substituents of the catalyst can efficiently shield the *Re*-face of the favored *E*-configuration of the enamine leading to a *Si* attack.

Seebach and Hayashi¹⁹ investigated various acidic additives in the Michael addition of propanal **7a** to β -nitrostyrene catalyzed by prolinol ether **10a**. Their results showed that 4-nitrophenol acts as the best additive in the addition of propanal to a series of different nitro alkenes, causing rate accelerations (reaction time decrease from 6 h to 15 min when nitrostyrene **2a** was used), with retention of excellent stereoselectivity (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7. The Michael addition in the presence of 4-nitrophenol.

Ni et al²⁰ designed a new water-soluble recyclable and highly active organocatalyst **14** (Scheme 8). The reaction was carried out under mild conditions using 3 mol% of catalyst. The catalytic system was easily recovered and reused at least six times without significant loss of catalytic activity or stereoselectivities.



Scheme 8. Diarylprolinol silyl ether salt catalyzed Michael addition on water.²¹

Wennemers et al²² used the TFA salt of their tripeptide catalyst H-D-Pro-Pro-Xaa-NH₂ **15** (Xaa=acidic amino acid) in the Michael addition of aliphatic aldehydes to nitro alkenes (Scheme 9). They showed that carboxylic acid plays a crucial role in coordinating and thereby orienting the nitro olefin into a position that allows for the excellent stereochemical induction that was observed for peptidic catalyst. Also the D-Pro-Pro motif was the major contributor to the high asymmetric induction of peptidic catalysts of the type H-D-Pro-Pro-Xaa-NH₂ in which Xaa is an amino acid with a carboxylic acid in the side chain.



Scheme 9. Michael addition reactions of aldehydes to nitro olefins catalyzed by tripeptide TFA salt **15**.

They investigated the additive effects on the catalytic efficiency of peptides. The obtained results showed that no additives were necessary for the high catalytic efficiency of this tripeptide catalytic system.

Wennemers and Duschmalé²³ used tripeptides of the type Pro-Pro-Xaa as catalysts for a Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to α , β -disubstituted nitro olefins **16**. In the presence of 5 mol% of either H-Pro-Pro-D-Gln-OH or H-Pro-Pro-Asn-OH, γ -nitroaldehydes **17** bearing three consecutive stereogenic centers were obtained in good to excellent yields, diastereoselectivities, and enantiomeric excesses (Scheme 10).



Scheme 10. Tripeptide catalyzed Michael addition of aldehydes to α , β -disubstituted nitro olefins.

Eymur and Demir²⁴ used a proline-thiourea self-assembled organocatalyst for the enantioselective Michael addition of aldehydes **7** to nitro alkenes **2** (Scheme 11). In the presence of 20 mol% of L-proline **5** and 5 mol% of thiourea **18**, moderate to good enantioselectivity and high *syn*-selectivity were obtained in both branched and unbranched aliphatic aldehydes. When the reaction was carried out without the thiourea additive, the reaction was very slow (36 h, conversion \leq 6%), with low stereoselectivity.



Scheme 11. Achiral thiourea 18 and L-proline 5 catalyzed Michael reaction.

To explain higher syn-diastereoselectivities and enantioselectivities with respect to proline, they proposed a TS (Scheme 11). Due to hydrogen bonding between thiourea and carboxylic group of proline the selective formation of the anti-enamine is favored and its *Re*-face is shielded, leading to a *Si* attack.

Various other chiral proline-based organocatalysts^{2,25} have been developed and screened for the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitro alkenes. As a powerful tool creating a new carbon-carbon bond, the aminocatalyzed Michael addition will remain developing field of research.

1.1.2 Revised mechanism for the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes catalyzed by diaryl prolinol silyl ether

Mechanistic studies and the origin of stereoselectivity in the α -functionalization of aldehydes have been investigated by several research groups.^{19,26} Seebach and Hayashi¹⁹ investigated an organocatalyzed Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes, *in situ* NMR studies led to the identification of a stable cyclobutane species, existing as a single diastereomer. They proposed that cyclobutane is an off-cycle resting state of the catalyst, by which the zwitterion intermediate is removed from the catalytic cycle resulting from a reversible attack of the enamine on the nitro olefin (Scheme 12).



Scheme 12. The cyclobutane is an off-cycle resting state of the catalyst and reversibility of the formal [2 + 2] cycloaddition.¹⁹

Pihko et al²⁷ published the revised mechanism for the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes catalyzed by diaryl prolinol silyl ethers. They proposed that the dihydrooxarine oxide (OO) is the key intermediate in an organocatalytic Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes (Scheme 13). They demonstrated that the sluggish reaction rates observed in reactions with α -alkyl-substituted nitroalkenes are in fact due to slow protonation of the OO intermediate and not a result of the intrinsically lower reactivities of the nitroalkenes (Scheme 13).



Scheme 13. Revised mechanism for the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkenes catalyzed by diphenylprolinol silyl ether.²⁷

In conclusion, dihydrooxarine oxides (OO) are key on-cycle intermediates in the Michael additions of aldehydes to nitroalkenes catalyzed by diaryl prolinol ethers.

1.2 Synthesis of cyclopropane ring-containing amino acid precursors

The highly strained cyclopropane moiety is an important motif in many biologically active compounds.²⁸ Several methods have been developed to obtain chiral cyclopropane ring-containing compounds, such as the Simmons–Smith reaction²⁹, using a transition metal-catalyzed reaction starting from carbene intermediates³⁰ or organocatalysis.³¹ This chapter will give a short overview of the use of organocatalytic Michael-initiated ring closure and the Kulinkovich reaction as a method of choice.

1.2.1 Michael-initiated ring closure (MIRC)

The Michael-initiated ring-closing reaction is an efficient tool for the synthesis of cyclopropanes.³² Using chiral auxiliaries linked to the Michael acceptor has been the choice for asymmetric induction;³³ recently the growing popularity of organocatalysis has merged: enantiomeric H-bond, amino- and PTC-catalysts have been used to achieve high enantioselectivity of the cyclization. Cyclopropanation reactions involving a conjugate addition to an electrophilic alkene to produce an enolate, which then subsequently undergoes an intramolecular ring closure, are defined as Michael-initiated ring-closure (MIRC) reactions (Scheme 14).³³



Scheme 14 . Michael-initiated ring-closure cyclopropanation reaction.

Gaunt et al³⁴ reported an enantioselective organocatalytic cyclopropanation reaction. During the reaction an α -bromo carbonyl compound undergoes $S_N 2$ displacement with tertiary amine catalyst to form a quaternary ammonium salt I: deprotonation with base will afford the ylide II, which undergoes conjugated addition to alkene to form enolate III, and intramolecular cyclization generates the cyclopropane (Scheme 15).



Scheme 15. Proposed catalytic cycle.

The reaction was carried out in acetonitrile in the presence of 10-20 mol% of the quinine or quinidine series of cinchona alkaloid as catalysts. Cyclopropane derivatives **23** were obtained in high yield and enantioselectivity (Scheme 16). The opposite enantiomer was also synthesized by using the quinidine-derived catalyst. Using acetamide as a Michael donor afforded cyclopropane in excellent yield and 93% *ee*.



Scheme 16. Enantioselective organocatalytic cyclopropanation.

Aitken et al³⁵ showed that cyanosulfone **26** can be used as a Michael acceptor in the MICR cyclopropanation with methyl bromomalonate **27a**. Using 10 mol% of bifunctional cinchona alkaloid **28**, they obtained highly functionalized cyclopropane derivatives **29** in high yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 17).



Scheme 17. Asymmetric cyclopropanation of conjugated cyanosulfones.

Wang et al reported the synthesis of chiral diester substituted cyclopropanes **31** from α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **30** with bromomalonate **27**.³⁶ The reaction was catalyzed by chiral diphenylprolinol TMS ether **10a** in the presence of 2,6-lutidine. Cyclopropanecarbaldehydes **31** were obtained in high enantio- and diastereo-selectivities (Scheme 18).



Scheme 18. Diphenylprolinol TMS ether catalyzed cyclopropanation.

Two groups simultaneously published a method for the enantioselective cyclopropanation of enals using benzyl chlorides as nucleophilic and electrophilic reagents.^{37,38} In general, benzyl halides are considered to be an electrophilic species, but adding strong EWGs, such as $-NO_2$, on the *ortho* and/or *para*-positions of the aromatic ring changes the reactivity as a result of strong inductive and resonance effects, and in the presence of a weak base they could act as nucleophiles. Meazza et al³⁸ reported the enantioselective cyclopropanation of enals using benzyl chlorides **32** as bifunctional reagents; cyclopropane derivatives **33a-c** were obtained in good yields and enantioselectivities and with moderate to excellent diastereoselectivities (Scheme 19).



Scheme 19. Asymmetric cyclopropanation catalyzed by diphenylprolinol silyl ether 10a.

Screening of the substrate bearing other aromatic substituents showed that the cyclopropanation reaction requires two strong EWGs on the aromatic ring of the benzylic chloride in order to enhance the acidity and nucleophilicity of the benzylic position. They also proposed a plausible catalytic cycle for asymmetric cyclopropanation (Scheme 20). The iminium ion I was generated by the reversible reaction between α , β -unsaturated aldehyde and chiral amine. The bulky group of catalyst shielded the *Si*-face of an

 α , β -unsaturated iminium ion I. Intermediate III was formed by a nucleophilic attack of benzyl chloride predominantly on the *Re*-face of iminium ion I via a Michael addition, followed by an intramolecular ring-closing reaction between the enamine and the secondary alkyl chloride. After the hydrolysis of iminium ion III the desired product was formed and the catalyst was regenerated.



Scheme 20. Plausible catalytic cycle for the enantioselective intermolecular cyclopropanation.

Wang et al used diphenylprolinol TBS ether **10b** for the synthesis of chiral trisubstituted diarylcyclopropanecarbaldehydes **35a-c** from substituted benzyl chloride **32** and α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **30**.³⁷ The reaction was carried out under mild conditions using 30 mol% of diphenylprolinol TBS ether **10b** as a catalyst (Scheme 21). Trisubstituted diarylcyclopropane-carbaldehydes **35a-c** were obtained in good to high yields and excellent enantioselectivities.



Scheme 21. Diphenylprolinol TBS ether-catalyzed cyclopropanation.

Rapi et al³⁹ reported the synthesis of cyclopropane derivatives **38** in high enantioselectivities using monosaccaharide-base chiral crown ether **37** as a phase transfer catalyst; four types of Michael acceptors were used: chalcones, 2-acrylidenemolonitriles, 2-acrylidene-1,3-indandiones and 2-benzylidene-1,3-diphenyl-1,3-propanediones. The reaction of benzylidenemalononitriles **36** with diethyl bromomalonate **27b** in the presence of 15 mol% of sugar-based crown ether **37** resulted in chiral cyclopropane derivatives **38** with modest to good yields and with variable enantioselectivities (Scheme 22). The proposed mechanism for the formation of *trans* product under a phase transfer catalyzed condition is depicted in Scheme 23.



Scheme 22. Crown ether catalyzed MIRC reaction of diethyl bromomalonate with benzylidenemalononitriles.



Scheme 23. Proposed mechanism for the formation of trans-product.

Our research group has previously investigated an enantioselective spiro-cyclopropanation reaction in collaboration with Prof. Malkov, the results of a Michael-initiated ring closure between oxindole derivative **39** (alkylidene oxindoles and 3-chlorooxindoles) and unsaturated α -halo- β -dicarbonyl compounds **40** (Scheme 24)⁴⁰ or α , β -unsaturated aldehydes⁴¹ were reported.



Scheme 24. Quinine-derived thiourea catalyzed spirocyclopropanation.

Quinine-derived thiourea was the best for this reaction, providing high stereoselectivity in both cascade steps. *Si*-facial selectivity for the major diastereoisomer was observed. To broaden the scope of spirooxindoles **42**, a Michael-initiated ring closure cascade reaction between 3-chlorooxindole **43** and unsaturated 1,4-dicarbonyl **44** compounds was developed (Scheme 25).⁴²



Scheme 25. Michael-initiated ring closure.

The chlorooxindole nitrogen atom was protected with Boc to increase the acidity of the C–H bond at C3 and provide the opportunity for the formation of additional H-bonds between the catalyst and the substrate. The spiro-products **42** were obtained in moderate yields and with very high diastereo- and enantioselectivities; in all cases, uncyclized Michael adduct was observed.

1.2.2 Kulinkovich reaction

In the Kulinkovich reaction^{43,44,45} a Grignard reagent reacts with titanium(IV)isopropoxide affording a thermally unstable diethyltitanium compound, which undergoes β -hydride elimination, leading to the formation of titanacyclopropane **A1** which then reacts with the ester, affording the intermediate **C**. The 1,2-insertion of the carbonyl group of the ester occurs at the less hindered carbon-titanium bond, because of unfavorable repulsion between the ester and R¹ group in the transition state. After elimination of an alkoxy group a β -metallated ketone **D** is formed. An intramolecular nucleophilic addition to the keto function leads to the formation of complex **E** titanium(IV)tetraalkoxide, which then reacts with 2 equivalents of Grignard reagent to regenerate a dialkoxytitanacyclopropane. The product **F** exists in the form of a magnesium alkoxide; after hydrolysis the expected product **G** is formed (Scheme 26).



Scheme 26. Catalytic cycle of titanium-mediated cyclopropanation reaction.⁴⁵

The first report on enantioselective Kulinkovich hydroxycyclopropanation was published by Corey et al;⁴⁶ enantiomeric excesses of up to 78% were achieved with the TADDOL-derived chiral catalyst; since then there has been progress in the development of asymmetric Kulinkovich hydroxycyclopropanation. Kulinkovich et al⁴⁷ investigated the dependence of the stereoselectivity of the cyclopropanation reaction of γ,γ -diphenyl- γ -butyrolactone and carboxylic esters **47** with alkylmagnesium bromides in

the presence of titanium(IV)TADDOLates **49**. An improved enantioselectivity of *cis*-1,2-disubstituted cyclopropanols **48** was obtained (Scheme 27).



Scheme 27. Cyclopropanation of trifluoroisopropyl alkanoates 47.

Recently Hurski et al⁴⁸ reported the diastereoselective hydroxycyclopropanation of alkenes **50** bearing a stereocenter in the allylic position. Cyclopropanols **52** were obtained with up to 94:6 diastereoselectivity and in good yields (up to 86%).



Scheme 28. The diastereoselective synthesis of cyclopropanols 52 from alkenes 50.

There are two modifications from the Kulinkovich reaction for the direct synthesis of cyclopropylamines **56**. In the Kulinkovich-Szymoniak reaction⁴⁹ alkylnitriles **53** are used for the synthesis of primary cyclopropylamines **56** (Scheme 29).



Scheme 29. Synthesis of cyclopropylamines from alkanenitriles.

Szymoniak et al⁵⁰ demonstrated the application of the reaction by synthesizing Boc-protected aminocyclopropanecarboxylic acid (Scheme 30). Aminocyclo-propanecarboxylic acid (ACC), its ethyl-substituted derivative and (guanidinylmethyl)-substituted derivative are natural products and have important biological activities (Figure 4).⁵¹



Scheme 30. Synthesis of Boc-protected aminocyclopropanecarboxylic acid 59.



Figure 4. 1-aminocyclopropanecarboxylic acid and its naturally occurring derivatives.

In the second reaction known as a Kulinkovich-de Meijere reaction, 52,53,54 *N*,*N*-dialkylamides and dialkylformamides **63** are used for the preparation of cyclopropylamines **64** (Scheme 31). The reaction required 1 equivalent of Ti(OiPr)₄, as using standard Kulinkovich reaction conditions 0.2 equivalents afforded poor yield compared to the reaction, when a stoichiometric amount of titanium(IV)iso-propoxide was used.



Scheme 31. Synthesis of cyclopropylamines from N,N-dialkylamides.

Kordes et al⁵⁵ reported the synthesis of methanoamino acid starting from N,N-dibenzylcarboxamides **65**. The amide was cyclopropanated by the addition of various alkylmagnesium bromides, affording a mixture of two expected diastereomers **66** with moderate yield. Over several steps, the obtained cyclopropylamines were transformed to *N*-Boc-protected aminocyclo-propanecarboxylic acid methyl esters **67** (Scheme 32).



Scheme 32. Cyclopropanation of N,N-dibenzylcarboxamides.

They also developed a method for the synthesis of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) analog **74**. One example is depicted in Scheme 33.⁵⁵ The inclusion of two of the γ -aminobutyric acid backbone carbon atoms into a cyclopropane ring provides conformationally restricted GABA analogs (Figure 5); its structural analogues are of great interest for the treatment of diverse neurodegenerative disorders, including Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases.⁵⁶







Aitken et al⁵⁷ reported a Kulinkovich–de Meijere reaction where they used a chiral amide **75**; the reaction showed high *trans* stereoselectivity, providing access to non-racemic *trans* cyclopropylamines **76**. Enantiomerically pure *N*-protected *trans*- β , *y*-methano-GABA derivative **77** was synthesized over four steps (Scheme 34).



Scheme 34. Synthesis of enantiomerically pure trans-β,γ-methano-GABA derivative 77.

1.2.3 Summary of the synthesis of cyclopropane ring-containing amino acid precursors

Amino acids containing cyclopropane moiety⁵⁸ in their backbone are versatile building blocks for the synthesis of bioactive compounds. However, the synthesis often requires several steps and enantiopure starting material, and thus the methods for the preparation of cyclopropane ring-containing compounds in enantiomerically pure form are still evolving.

1.3 [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones

Cyclopropenone⁵⁹ is an amphiphilic molecule, which can react with both nucleophilic and electrophilic reagents. In the resonance structure a negative charge on an oxygen atom leads to enhanced nucleophilicity of the oxygen atom compared to ordinary carbonyl compound. Cyclopropenones can undergo various types of ring-opening annulation.



Scheme 35. The resonance structure of cyclopropenone.

During the ring-opening [3+2] annulation, in which C=N, C=C, C=O, C=S, N=N, N=O, and C=C bonds couple with cyclopropenones, five-membered rings are formed. The insertion of a carbonyl group into a cyclopropenone C–C bond will afford 2-furanones (butenolides). The butenolide core is an important motif of various natural compounds.⁶⁰ This chapter will give a short overview of the [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones with a carbonyl group.

Kröner et al found that cyclopropenone **78** and its alkyl- and aryl-substituted derivatives dimerize upon heating (100 °C) to a spirolactone **79** with yields between 40% and 50%. In the model system they investigated catalytic amount of Pd(II), Pt(0) and Ru(0); in most cases the yield of spiroproduct **79** was low.⁶¹ But by changing the catalytic system to Cu(I) bromide, the spirolactone **79** was obtained in 84% yield. They also proposed a possible mechanism for the generation of spirolactones from two equivalents of cyclopropenone **78** in the presence of Cu(I) bromide (Scheme 36).



Scheme 36. Cu(*I*)-*catalyzed* [3+2] *annulation of cyclopropenone* **78** *and proposed mechanism.*

Recently, two groups have published the Ag(I)-catalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones **78** with amides. Ren et al⁶² reported the AgSbF₆-catalyzed annulation of cyclopropenones **78** with formamides **80**; the reaction occurs via β -carbon elimination followed by an intramolecular nucleophilic attack affording γ -aminobutenolides **81** with high yields. The reaction is limited by the substituents on the nitrogen atom; bulkier groups afforded low yield and with free formamide there was no reaction. The plausible

reaction mechanism is shown in Scheme 37. The species I was produced by the reaction of cyclopropenone with Ag catalyst, and then the 1,2-addition of carbonyl of formamide to cyclopropenone followed by a ring-opening process generated amphiphilic intermediate III, which underwent intramolecular nucleophilic addition to release the [3+2] annulation product.⁶²



Scheme 37. Ag(I)-catalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones 78 and formamides 80.

Suzuki et al⁶³ used the AgOTf for the ring-opening [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones **78a** with amides, obtaining 5-amino-2-furanones with moderate to high yield up to 98%. They also showed that *N*,*N*-dimethylthioformamide **82** can react under similar conditions (Scheme 38). The presence of a 10 mol% of AgOTf resulted in the formation of the expected [3+2] annulation product **83** and product **84** with eliminated dimethylamino group.



Scheme 38. AgOTf catalyzed annulation of cyclopropenones 78a with thioformamide 82.

Lin et al⁶⁴ published an organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones **78** and β -ketoesters **85** (Scheme 39). The reaction mechanism is explained by the formation of enol intermediate I through the deprotonation of β -ketoester by base; then in situ-formed nucleophilic oxygen anion attacks the carbonyl group of cyclopropenone, realizing the ring-opening process and affording a Michael addition acceptor II, and then an intramolecular Michael addition takes place affording intermediate III, after protonation racemic product is formed.



Scheme 39. Organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones **78** and β-ketoesters **85**.

Du et al⁶⁵ used a chiral Lewis base to catalyze a [3+2] cycloaddition of cyclopropenones with isatins. A chiral prolinol-derived pyridine catalyst afforded spirooxindole furan-2-ones in high yields and good *e.r.* values (Scheme 40).



Scheme 40. [3+2] cycloaddition of diaryl cyclopropenones **78** with isatins **87** catalyzed by chiral Lewis base **88**.

There are different ways to synthesize butenolides, the above-mentioned cyclopropane-carbonyl coupling, which was conducted under basic conditions using organic base^{64,65} or a metal catalyst, but the straightforward method for the synthesis of enantiomerically enriched butenolides through a [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones has remained mostly unexplored.

2 Aims of the present work

The general aim of the present work was to broaden the scope of Michael donors for asymmetric organocatalytic Michael reaction to obtain amino acid precursors and to investigate various organocatalytic activation modes for the synthesis of chiral butenolides. Specific aims of this thesis were:

- Investigate the asymmetric organocatalytic synthesis of a cyclopropane-containing Michael adduct starting from 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate **93**;
- Use a mine-functionalized cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative in a Michael reaction to obtain β - and γ -amino acid precursors;
- Investigate different catalytic systems for the [3+2] annulation of 1,2-diphenylcyclopropen-3-one **78** and 3-oxo-3-phenylpropanoate **85**.

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Synthesis of alkylidenecyclopropanes (Article I)

The scope of the carbonyl Michael donors used in an asymmetric aminocatalytic reaction is wide, but to the best of our knowledge, aldehydes containing cyclopropane moiety had not previously been used at the time we started this project. The general idea of the synthesis of cyclopropane-containing aldehydes through a catalytic Michael addition is depicted in Scheme 41.



Scheme 41. Proposed reaction for the formation of cyclopropane-containing Michael adduct.

We started the synthesis of 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate **93** from commercially available starting material 3,3-diethyloxypropionate **90**. A Kulinkovich reaction of 3,3-diethyloxypropionate furnished the cyclopropanol **91** in quantitative yield. Acylation of the hydroxyl group afforded cyclopropyl acetate **92**, which was treated with PPTS to cleave the acetal and aldehyde **93** was formed with a 46% overall yield (Scheme 42).



Scheme 42. The synthesis of 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate.

The preliminary experiments for the Michael addition were carried out between aldehyde **93** and nitrostyrene **2a** in DCM at room temperature in the presence of 20 mol% catalyst and 20 mol% of co-catalyst. In the first attempt to obtain a Michael adduct, 20 mol% of pyrrolidine and 20 mol% of diethylthiourea were used. The racemic product was obtained in 58% yield (Table 1, entry 1). The NMR spectroscopic data showed the β -elimination of the acetate group and the formation of double bond (Scheme 43), affording α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compound **95a** derived from Michael adduct **94a** via elimination. To avoid the elimination, we tried to protect the hydroxyl group in compound **91** as benzyl ether, using 2 equivalent benzyl bromide, 1.5 equivalent

sodium hydride and a catalytic amount of TBAI; unfortunately a mixture of products was obtained. We decided to move on to an acyl-protected aldehyde.



Scheme 43. Michael addition of 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate to nitrostyrene.



Figure 6. Catalysts and co-catalysts screened for the synthesis of alkylidene cyclopropane derivatives.

Then various organocatalysts were investigated in a model reaction between aldehyde **93** and nitrostyrene **2a** (Scheme 43). To our surprise, using the most widely used diphenylprolinol silyl ether **10a**, there was no reaction (Table 1, entry 4). The additional activation of the Michael acceptor (nitrostyrene) with achiral thiourea **100** was necessary (Table 1, entry 2). The combination of an achiral secondary amine **96** with chiral squaramide derivatives **98** and **99** resulted in racemic product with slow reaction (Table 1, entries 5 and 6). The chiral squaramide derivative **97**, which contained both aminocatalytic and H-bonding catalytic moieties, was also found to be inactive (Table 1, entry 7). A stronger H-bond donor thiourea **18** as a co-catalyst afforded similar yield and
enantioselectivity to diethylthiourea **100** (Table 1, compare entries 2 and 8). Using dichloroethane as a solvent decreased the yield to 24% (Table 1, entry 9). The optimal ratio of aldehyde **93** and nitrostyrene **2a** was 3:1 (compare entries 10 and 11) respectively.

0 0/ 	Ac	ami H-bor ≫ NO₂ —	inocatalyst (20 nding catalyst (2	mol%) 20 mol%)		
Н	∀ ⁺ Ph∕		CH_2Cl_2, rt	-		
93		2a			Ph' -	
Entry	Amino- catalyst	H-bonding catalyst	Time, d	Solvent	Yield, %	<i>ee,</i> ^b %
1	96	100	4	CH_2CI_2	58	rac
2	10a	100	4	CH_2CI_2	34	90
3	10a	100	8	toluene	15	89
4	10a	-	4	CH_2Cl_2	_c	nd
5	96	99	1	CH_2CI_2	52	rac
6	96	98	6	CH_2CI_2	38	rac
7	97	-	9	CH_2CI_2	_c	nd
8	10a	18	3	CH_2CI_2	32	92
9	10a	18	1	$C_2H_4Cl_2$	24	87
10 ^d	10a	18	1	CH_2CI_2	58	93
11 ^e	10a	18	1	CH_2CI_2	41	89

Tabel 1. Screening of the reaction conditions.^a

^aReaction conditions: compound **93** (1.0 equiv.), compound **2a** (1.0 equiv.), aminocatalyst (20 mol%) and H-bonding catalyst (20 mol%) in CH₂Cl₂ were stirred at ambient temperature. ^bEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis from isolated product. ^cNo reaction. ^dThe ratio between aldehyde **93** and nitrostyrene **2a** was 3:1. ^eThe ratio between aldehyde and nitrostyrene was 1:3.

Next, we screened the effects of various co-catalysts on the model reaction (Table 2). It is known from the literature that an acidic co-catalyst accelerates the reaction considerably, affording Michael adducts in high yields and selectivities.^{18,26} We investigated the effect of additional basic and acidic additives. Adding 20 mol% of K₂CO₃ afforded lower enanioselectivity (*ee* 81%, Table 2, entry 3) while an additional amount of *p*-TsOH (Table 2, entry 4) resulted in a mixture of products. An aminocatalyst **10b** containing a sterically more demanding *tert*-butyldiphenylsilyl group did not influence the stereoselectivity and a minor decrease in the yield was observed (Table 2, entry 5). Benzoic acid **101** or its derivatives afforded similar enantioselectivities (*ee* from 91-92%) and yields (Table 2, entries 6-8), except 3,5-dinitrobenzoic acid **101a**, which gave a very slow reaction and the yield was not determined. The best results were obtained in the presence of 4-nitrophenol **102** (Table 2, entries 9 and 11), a minor decrease in the yield was observed when *tert*-butyldiphenylsilylprolinol **10b** was used as a catalyst (Table 2, entry 11).

Entry	Amino- catalyst	Co- catalyst	Time, d	Solvent	Yield, %	ee, ^b %
1	10a	18	3	CH_2Cl_2	32	92
2 ^c	10a	18	1	CH_2CI_2	41	89
3 ^d	10a	18	1	CH_2CI_2	43	81
4 ^e	10a	18	1	CH_2CI_2	mixture	nd
5°	10b	18	1	CH_2CI_2	36	89
6 ^c	10a	101	1	CH_2CI_2	43	91
7	10a	101a	1	CH_2CI_2	_f	91
8	10a	101b	1	CH_2CI_2	40	92
9	10a	102	1	CH_2CI_2	60	93
10 ^c	10a	102	1	CH_2CI_2	58	93
11 ^c	10b	102	1	CH_2CI_2	56	92

Tabel 2.	Screening	of the	co-catalyst. ^a
----------	-----------	--------	---------------------------

^aReaction conditions: compound **93** (1.0 equiv.), compound **2a** (1.0 equiv.), aminocatalyst (20 mol%) and co-catalyst (20 mol%) in CH₂Cl₂ were stirred at ambient temperature for 24 h. ^bEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis from isolated product. ^cThe ratio between aldehyde and nitrostyrene was 1:3. ^dAn additional amount of K₂CO₃ (20 mol%) was added to the reaction mixture. ^eAn additional amount of *p*-TsOH (20 mol%) was added to the reaction mixture.

With optimal conditions in hand, aldehyde **93** (1 equiv.), nitrostyrene **2a** (1 equiv.), diphenylprolinol silyl ether **10a** (0.2 equiv.) and 4-nitrophenol **102** (0.2 equiv.) in DCM at room temperature, the influence of different substituents in the aromatic core of nitro olefins **2** was investigated (Table 3). We were also interested in the catalytic activity of thiourea **18** and did parallel scope screening with it (Table 3, entries 3, 5, 8, 11, 13 and 15).

Table 3. Scope of the reaction.^a

	+ Ar NO ₂ -	Ph Ph OTMS H (20 mol%) 4-nitrophenol (20 CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	10a) 1 mol%)		
Entry	٨٢	Time d	Product	95a-i Vield %	ee ^b %
1	Ph	1	95a	60	93
2	4-CIC ₆ H₄	1	95b	38	95
- 3 ^c	4-CIC ₆ H ₄	1	95b	50	93
4	2-CIC ₆ H ₄	1	95c	38	95
5 ^c	$2-CIC_6H_4$	1	95c	50	91
6	$2-BrC_6H_4$	1	95d	42	99
7	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	1	95e	27	87
8 ^c	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	95e	23	84
9	4-(F ₃ CO)C ₆ H ₄	1	95f	50	96
10	$4-NO_2C_6H_4$	1	95g	35	97
11 ^c	$4-NO_2C_6H_4$	4	95g	36	86
12	2-naphthyl	1	95h	34	92
13 ^c	2-naphthyl	4	95h	42	87
14	2-thienyl	1	95i	27	85
15 ^c	2-thienyl	4	95i	39	81

^aReaction conditions: compound **93** (1.0 equiv.), compounds **2a-i** (1.0 equiv.), aminocatalyst **10a** (20 mol%) and co-catalyst **102** (20 mol%) in CH₂Cl₂ were stirred at ambient temperature for 24 h. ^bEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis from isolated product. ^cThiourea **18** was used instead of 4-nitrophenol and the ratio between the aldehyde and nitro olefin was 1:3.

Electron-donating and -withdrawing groups of the nitro olefins did not have a noticeable effect on the reaction and the obtained products were isolated in similar yields (from 23-60%) and enantioselectivities (*ee* from 81-99%). Slightly decreased selectivities were observed in the reaction with methoxy- and 2-thienyl substituted nitro olefins (Table 3, entries 7,8,14 and 15). Using thiourea **18** as a co-catalyst and a higher ratio of nitro olefins afforded better yields (Table 3, entries 3,5,13 and 15).

In conclusion, the synthesis of alkylidenecyclopropane aldehydes **95** via an aminocatalytic Michael addition to nitro olefins **2** with moderate yields and in high enantiomeric purity up to 99% was described. The stereoselectivity of the reaction is determined by the nonracemic aminocatalyst and additional activation of the Michael acceptor is needed.

3.2 Synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors (Article II)

Having obtained good results with the 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate **93**, we investigated a similar organocatalytic approach; we intended to synthesize amine-functionalized cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative to avoid β -elimination of the acetate group and achieve a direct synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors (Scheme 44).



Scheme 44. Proposed reaction for the synthesis of amino acid precursors.

Amine-functionalized cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative **108** was prepared from benzyl alcohol **103**.⁶⁶ The Michael addition of benzyl alcohol to acrylonitrile was followed by a Kulinkovich-Szymoniak reaction.⁶⁷ Then the amino group was protected with a Boc-protection group. The benzyl group was removed from the oxygen atom. The oxidation of the hydroxyl group with Dess-Martin periodinane afforded the desired amine-containing cyclopropanecarbaldehyde **108** in an 18% overall yield (Scheme 45).



Scheme 45. Synthesis of amine-containing cyclopropanecarbaldehyde 108.

Table 4. Screening of oxidation reagents.



There are examples where TEMPO is used as an oxidation reagent to obtain aldehyde from primary alcohols.⁶⁸ Using TEMPO for oxidation led to the formation of an expected aldehyde **108** with a moderate 59% yield. We turned our attention to other oxidation reagents. PCC afforded a higher yield of 66%, but the crude mixture contained inseparable side products with polarities similar to those of aldehyde **108** (Table 4, entry 2). Finally, when Dess-Martin periodinane was used an 84% yield of aldehyde **108** was obtained.

Next, we focused our attention on screening for reaction conditions, we knew from our previous work (Publication I) that a reaction between the cyclopropane containing aldehyde and nitro olefins would not proceed without a co-catalyst. Different aminocatalysts and co-catalysts were screened for the model reaction between the aldehyde **108** and nitrostyrene **2a** (Scheme 46). As is shown in the reaction scheme, the obtained aldehyde **109a** was reduced *in situ* for the corresponding alcohol **110a**, because isolating the aldehyde **109a** in small scale afforded insufficient yield. Later, the isolation of aldehyde **109a** was demonstrated in a larger **1**.0 mmol scale.



Scheme 46. Synhesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors.

Jørgensen-Hayashi type catalysts **10a** and **10b** with various H-bonding co-catalysts were tested, such as 4-nitrophenol, achiral thioureas and Takemoto's thioureas (Figure 7). The best diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity were achieved with the combination of *tert*-butyldiphenylsilylprolinole **10b** and thiourea **18**. The study revealed

that a prolinol derivative **10b** with a sterically more demanding TBS-group is clearly beneficial in terms of diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity and decreasing the catalyst loading to an equal amount of co-catalyst did not affect the selectivity; only a minor decrease in the yield was observed. A detailed optimization procedure is described in Article II.

Aminocatalysts:



 $Ar = 3,5-(CF_3)_2C_6H_3$

Figure 7. Aminocatalysts and co-catalysts screened for the synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors.

Next, the scope of the reaction was investigated. The yields and *ee* values of the conjugated addition of cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative **108** and nitro alkenes are presented in Table 5. Electron-donating and -withdrawing groups of the nitro olefins did not have any noticeable effect on the reaction selectivity; the obtained products were isolated in similar yields (from 56-78%), in high diastereoselectivities (*dr* 89:11-95:5) and in high enantioselectivities (*ee* 98-99%). In the case of *meta*- and *ortho*-bromo phenyl substituted nitro olefins, the reaction times were longer and the yields were lower due to steric hindrance (Table 5, entries 3 and 5). The cause of the long reaction time in the reaction between aldehyde **108** and *para*-nitro-phenyl substituted nitro olefin (Table 5, entry 6), was low solubility of the nitro olefin in DCM.

Heteroaromatic nitro olefins afforded lower diastereoselectivities (*dr* 80:20-88:12, Table 5, entries 7-9) which is distinctive to electron-rich aromatic substituents. The lowest enantioselectivities were obtained with pyridyl- and naphthyl-substituted nitro alkenes (Table 5, entries 9, 10); in the case of nitro alkene **2m**, higher catalyst loadings were needed to obtain the full conversion and the product was isolated as an aldehyde **109m** due to its high polarity. With ester-substituted nitro alkene **2o** (Table 5, entry 12), an excellent enantioselectivity was retained for both isomers (*ee* 99% and *ee* 92%); the low diastereoselectivity might have been due to epimerization of the α -position of the carboxyl group. To avoid possible lactonization, the product was isolated as an aldehyde **109o**. The reaction proceeded more slowly with aliphatic substrate **2p** (table 5, entry 13) and the product was isolated as an aldehyde **109p**. An α -substituted nitro olefin did not react, which corresponds to previously published work by Pihko et al.²⁷

Table 5. Scope of the r	reaction between	aldehyde 108	and nitro	alkenes 2.ª
-------------------------	------------------	--------------	-----------	-------------

н	0 HN ^{-Boc} + R ¹ 108 2	R ²	1) 10b/18 2 CH ₂ 2) NaBH MeOH	(10 mol%) Cl ₂ , rt I_4 (1.5 equiv) (0.05M), rt	HO R1 110	\mathbb{N}^{Boc} \mathbb{N}^{NO_2} \mathbb{R}^2 (ma)	ior)
Entry	R1	R ²	Time	Product	Yield, %	dr ^b	ee,°%
1	C_6H_5	н	25 h	110a	74	95:5	99
2	4-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	н	28 h	110e	70	89:11	98
3	$2-Br-C_6H_4$	н	49 h	110j	65	95:5	99
4	4-Cl-C ₆ H ₄	Н	2 d	110b	78	95:5	98
5	3-Br-C ₆ H ₄	Н	46 h	110k	56	94:6	99
6	4-NO ₂ -C ₆ H ₄	н	79 h	110g	69	95:5	98
7	furan-2-yl	Н	1 d	110	79	80:20	97
8	2-thienyl	н	29 ^d h	110i	75	86:14	94
9	pyridine-3-yl	Н	6 d	110m	56 ^e	88:12	93
10	naphthalene-1- yl	Н	5 d	110h	74	85:18	93
11	C ₆ H ₅ -C≡C	н	1 d	110n	86	69:31	97/65
12	CH ₃ CH ₂ O(O)C	н	47 h	1100	57 ^e	72:28	99/92
13	C_6H_{11}	Н	7 d	110p	47 ^e	83:17	99
14	C_6H_5	CH₃	7 d	110q	g	_	_
15	–(CH₂)₄–		7 d	110r	g	_	_

^aReaction conditions: compound 108 (1.2 equiv.), compounds 2a-r (1.0 equiv.), aminocatalyst 10b (10 mol%) and co-catalyst 18 (10 mol%) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.38 M) were stirred at ambient temperature for 24 h. For the reduction NaBH₄ (1.5 equiv) was used in MeOH at room temperature. ^bDiastereomeric ratio was determined from the crude mixture by ¹H NMR spectroscopy for aldehyde **109**. ^cEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis from isolated product 110. d15 mol% of 10b/18 was used. eProduct was isolated as aldehyde **109 m/o/p**. ^gNo reaction.

The relative and absolute stereochemistry of the alcohol **110j** was established by single-crystal X-ray diffraction and the other compounds in the series were assigned by analogy (Figure 8).



Figure 8. X-ray structure of alcohol 110j.

Based on the geometry of the anti-product (2R,3S configuration), a possible mechanism of a Michael addition between the cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative 108 and nitro olefin 2 was proposed (Figure 9). The anti-configured Michael products are not very common. In 2004 Alexakis et al published a Michael addition of hydroxyacetone and nitro olefins, where they obtained *anti*-selectivity.⁶⁹ The formation of *anti*-configuration Michael products can be explained by the Z configuration⁷⁰ of the reactive enamine, which can be stabilized by intramolecular hydrogen bonding.⁷¹ Z-configuration of enamine is caused by hydrogen bonding between the nitrogen atom of the pyrrolidine ring and the NH of the HNBoc group (Figure 9, I). According to Seebach's topological rule, the absolute stereochemistry is determined by a sterically less hindered nucleophilic attack from the Re-face of the enamine on the Si-face of the nitro olefin to give the product with a 2R, 3S configuration (Figure 9, TS). From previous mechanistic studies²⁶ it is known that the key intermediate in the Michael reaction is a six-membered dihydrooxazine oxide OO; in our case its supports the C2 R-configuration. The OO intermediate hydrogen bonding between the carbamoyl group from the cyclopropane species and the nitrogen atom from the enamine will force the cyclopropyl- and aryl- (R^1) substituents in cis to each other II.



Figure 9. Proposed mechanism for the Michael addition.

The synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid was continued by MSc Mikk Kaasik and published in his master theses (Scheme 47). The aldehyde **109a** was converted to the corresponding Boc-protected β -amino acid **113**; further reduction of the nitro group afforded γ -amino acid **114**, and two different methods were used for the reduction.



Scheme 47. Synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid.⁷²

In conclusion, we have developed a method for the synthesis of β - and γ -amino precursors **109/110** via an aminocatalytic Michael addition to nitro olefins **2** with moderate to good yields (47-86%) and in good to high diastereo- and enantioselectivities (*dr* 69:31-95:5; *ee* 93-99%).

3.3 Study of the asymmetric organocatalalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β -ketoester (Article III)

Inspired by the study of the non-asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β -ketoester reported by Lin et al⁶⁴, we were interested in the asymmetric version of the reaction. To explore the activation methods of the synthesis of chiral butenolide **86**, four different catalytic approaches were investigated: bifunctional thiourea catalysis, chiral base catalysis, aminocatalysis and phase-transfer catalysis.



Scheme 48. Catalysts screened for the synthesis of butenolide 86.

In the first approach, we assumed the enolization of the β -ketoester **85** in the presence of a bifunctional catalyst. Unfortunately, product **86** was not formed by the amino acid-derived thiourea **115** and alkaloid-based thiourea **116** (Table 6, entries 1 and 2). We concluded that the nitrogen atoms in catalysts structures were not basic enough to enolize the β -ketoester. The addition of a base did not improve the situation (Table 6, entry 3). This might have been due to the similar pK_a values of catalyst **116** and β -ketoester **85** (respectively 12.39⁷³ and 14.2⁷⁴ in DMSO), as the deprotonation by DBU is competitive between the catalyst and β -ketoester **85**.

Ph Ph	+ Ph	O ∬Cataly OEtso	st, base	O Ph COOEt
78	8	5		86
Entry	Catalyst	Base	Yield, %	<i>ee</i> , ^b %
1	115	-	-	-
2	116	-	-	-
3	116	DBU	-	-
4	117	-	62 ^c	rac ^d
5 ^e	118	-	31	6
6 ^f	119	DABCO	nd	rac
7 ^f	120	K ₂ CO ₃	31	6
8 ^f	120	DIPEA	traces	rac
9 ^g	120	DBU	52	rac
10	121	50% aq KOH	28	10
11 ^h	122a	50% aq KOH	13 ^c	6
12	122b	50% aq KOH	17 ^c	rac
13	122c	50% aq KOH	22 ^c	14
14	122d	50% aq KOH	8	24
15 ⁱ	122d	50% aq KOH	49	rac
16 ^j	122d	50% aq KOH	40	rac
17 ^k	122d	50% aq KOH	18	rac
18	123	50% aq KOH	12	10
19	124	50% aq KOH	29 ^c	rac

Table 6. Catalyst screening for the asymmetric synthesis of butenolide 86.^a

^aReaction conditions: compound **78** (1.5 equiv.), compound **85** (1.0 equiv.), catalyst (20 mol%) and the base (20 mol%) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.1 M) were stirred at rt for 24 h. ^bEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC from the isolated product **86**. ^cConversion was determined from the ratio of compound **86** to **85** by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in the crude mixture. ^dEnantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC for the sample isolated by preparative TLC from the crude mixture. ^eReaction at 60 °C. ^fReaction time 10 days. ^gReaction time 5 h. ^hReaction time 1 h. ⁱReaction in THF. ^jReaction in DME. ^kReaction in toluene at 0 °C.

Then we investigated the catalytic activity of chiral bases. The catalyst **11**7 was chosen due to its high Brønsted basicity and its ability to act as a hydrogen bond donor (primary hydroxyl group in the core structure). The strong bases **117** and **118** afforded racemic product with moderate (Table 6, entry 4) or low (Table 6, entry 5) yields.

Amino-catalysts **119** and **120** turned out to also be unsuitable for this reaction, affording product in very low selectivity (Table 6, entries 6-9). The obtained results proved the proposed reaction mechanism.⁶⁴

Next, we turned our attention to phase-transfer catalysis. Four different phase-transfer catalysts were tested. An amino acid-derived phosphonium salt **121** catalyzed reaction with additional base afforded product **86** with low yield and enantioselectivity (Table 6, entry 10). The highest enantiomeric purity of **86** was achieved with Cinchona alkaloid derived ammonium salt **122d** with additional base (Table 6,

entry 14). However, bifunctional Cinchona alkaloid-based thiourea **123** and codeine derivative **124** failed to perform (Table 6, entries 15-16).

Having determined the potential catalytic system (**122d** in CH_2Cl_2/aq KOH), we started exploring the influence of various substituents at the nitrogen atom of the alkaloid catalyst **122**. Four different R-groups were tested and all four catalysts **122a-d** performed quite similarly (Table 6, entries 11-14), the conversion varied between 13-22%. The bulkiest, anthracen-9-yl group at the nitrogen atom made the catalyst more selective, affording the highest *ee* value (24%). The reaction was also conducted in different solvents (Table 6, entries 15-17). This had some effect on the reaction rate (conversions were between 18% and 49%), while the obtained product **86** was racemic.

Finally, in order to improve the conversion, the influence of the loading of the base was investigated. Increasing the amount of base to a 0.6 equivalent afforded almost full conversion; the isolated yield was 54% without loss in selectivity. Further increasing it made the reaction faster, but selectivity dropped to 15%. We concluded, that a 0.6 equivalent of aqueous KOH was optimal in our catalytic system. There are two competitive pathways for the reaction: a base-catalyzed background reaction leading to the racemic product, and a PTC-catalyzed asymmetric reaction. The stronger the base we used, the higher conversion of the product **86** we got, while the enantioselectivity of the reaction declined.

The study revealed that in principal the use of phase-transfer catalysis could be the method of choice as the highest enantiomeric purity of compound **86** was achieved with cinchona alkaloid-derived ammonium salt **122d** in a CH_2Cl_2/aq KOH biphasic system, but further investigation is needed.

Conclusions

The organocatalytic Michael reaction of a cyclopropane-ring containing compounds was investigated and conditions for the selective formation of different addition products were established. Various asymmetric organocatalytic methods for [3+2] annulations of diphenylcyclopropenone and β -ketoester were investigated. The following features of organocatalytic Michael addition and [3+2] annulation were explored and improved:

A method for the asymmetric synthesis of alkylidenecyclopropane derivatives **95a-i** through the organocatalytic Michael addition was developed. Alkylidenecyclopropane derivatives **95a-i** were obtained in high enantiomeric purities (85–99% *ee*). All reactions were highly enantioselective and the substitution pattern did not influence the selectivity.

A general straightforward method for the synthesis of β - and γ -amino acid precursors **110** was developed. The reaction allowed the one-step introduction of a cyclopropane ring and two different nitrogen-containing functional groups into the target compound.

The organocatalytic conjugate addition of cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative **108** to nitro olefin **2** was used to synthesize Boc-protected β -amino acid **113** and γ -amino acid **114**.

Various asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulations of diphenylcyclopropenone **78** and β -ketoester **85** were investigated, resulting in the formation of chiral ethyl 2-(5-oxo-2,3,4-triphenyl-2,5-dihydrofuran-2-yl) acetate **86** with moderate to high yield.

In spite of various asymmetric organocatalytic methods and optimization procedures applied to achieve enantioselectivity, the enantiomeric purity of the product **86** remained low. The best results were obtained using sterically demanding PTC catalyst **122d** in a biphasic system of DCM and aqueous KOH. A dependence between the base loading, reaction time and selectivity was observed: a higher base loading afforded faster reaction and lower enantioselectivity.

4 Experimental

Full assignment of ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts was based on the 1D and 2D FT NMR spectra measured on a Bruker Avance III 400 MHz instrument. Residual solvent signals were used [CDCl3 δ = 7.26 (¹H NMR), 77.16 (¹³C NMR)] as internal standards. The ¹H NMR peaks are reported as follows: s = singlet, br = broad singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet and m = multiplet. High resolution mass spectra were recorded on an Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD Accurate Mass Q-TOF LC/MS spectrometer using AJ-ESI ionization. IR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Tensor 27 FT infrared spectrophotometer. Optical rotations were obtained using an Anton Paar GWB Polarometer MCP 500. Chiral HPLC was performed using ether Chiralpak AS-H (250 x 4.6 mm), Lux Amylose-2, Chiralcel OD-H (250 x 4.6 mm) or Chiralpak AD-H (250 x 4.6 mm) columns. Precoated silica gel 60 F₂₄₅ plates from Merck were used for TLC, whereas for column chromatography silica gel Kieselgel 40-63 µm was used. Purchased chemicals and solvents were used as received. DCM and EtOAc were distilled over phosphorous pentoxide. Reactions sensitive to oxygen or moisture were conducted under an argon atmosphere in flame-dried glassware.

General method for the aminocatalytic Michael addition of cyclopropane-containing aldehyde to nitroalkenes (Publication I)

To aldehyde **93** (0.35 mmol) was added 4-nitrophenol **102** (0.07 mmol), nitro alkene **2** (0.35 mmol), and a solution of catalyst **10a** (0.07 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (0.2 mL). The mixture was stirred at r.t. until completion of the reaction (TLC monitoring). The mixture was diluted with CH_2Cl_2 (6 mL) and washed with aq 1M NaOH (6 mL) and brine (6 mL). After concentration under reduced pressure, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc-hexane, 1:10) to afford alkylidenecyclopropane **95**.

2-Cyclopropylidene-4-nitro-3-phenylbutanal 95a

Yellow oil; yield 60% (46 mg); R_f = 0.42 (EtOAc-hexane, 2:5); *ee* 93%, determined by HPLC [Chiralcel OD-H; hexane:iPrOH 8:2; 1 mL/min, 230 nm, t_r = 27.19 min (major), t_r = 24.69 min (minor)]. [α] $_D^{25}$ = -84.0 (*c* 0.075, MeOH); IR (neat): v = 2831, 1680, 1553, 1431, 1216, 700 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.67 (s, 1 H), 7.34-7.21 (m, 5 H), 5.11 (dd, *J* = 12.7, 8.9 Hz, 1 H), 4.97-4.90 (m, 1 H), 4.83 (dd, *J* = 12.7, 7.1 Hz, 1 H), 1.58-1.44 (m, 4 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.0, 149.4, 137.8, 130.3, 129.1, 128.0, 127.9, 77.2, 42.5, 3.5, 1.8 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₃H₁₄NO₃⁺ [M + H]⁺ 232.0968; found 232.0971.

General methods for the organocatalytic Michael addition of cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative to nitroalkenes (Publication II)

General Procedure A: In a 1.5 mL reactor, aldehyde **108** (1.2 equiv., 37 mg, 0.19 mmol), nitro olefin **2** (1 equiv., 0.15 mmol), cocatalyst **18** (10 mol%, 7.7 mg, 0.015 mmol), and catalyst **10b** (10 mol%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol) were dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (0.4 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 1–7 d at room temp. and then it was diluted with MeOH (3 mL), and cooled to 0 °C. NaBH₄ (8.8 mg, 0.23 mmol) was added, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temp., for 25 min. The reaction was quenched with satd. aq. NH₄Cl solution (3 mL), and then the mixture was diluted with water (3 mL), and extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (3 × 10 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried with Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography using a mixture of CH_2Cl_2 /EtOAc or hexane/EtOAc.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-1-Hydroxy-4-nitro-3-phenylbutan-2-yl]cyclopropyl}-

carbamate 110: Synthesized according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (41 mg, 74 %) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (*dr* 95:5) with an *ee* of 99 % for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/*i*PrOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 7.4 (minor), $t_{\rm R}$ = 8.9 (major) min]. [α] $_D^{25}$ = -9.5 (*c* = 1.00, acetone), m.p. 173–176 °C. IR: v = 3349, 3270, 1681, 1556, 1368, 1285, 1257, 1166, 1066, 1032, 763 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, [D₆]acetone): δ = 7.35–7.26 (m, 4 H), 7.26–7.20 (m, 1 H), 6.84 (s, 1 H), 5.68–5.57 (m, 1 H), 4.96 (t, *J* = 12.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.35 (dd, *J* = 7.5, 4.5 Hz, 1 H), 3.58 (td, *J* = 11.7, 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 3.36–3.24 (m, *J* = 10.1 Hz, 1 H), 3.23–3.09 (m, 1 H), 1.49–1.45 (m, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 1.44 (s, 9 H), 1.05–0.94 (m, 3 H), 0.94–0.87 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, [D₆]acetone): δ = 158.6, 140.3, 129.4, 129.1, 128.1, 80.2, 80.0, 63.7, 51.7, 45.4, 32.0, 28.5, 14.85, 14.77 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₇N₂O₅⁺ [M + H]⁺ 351.1914; found 351.1895.

General Procedure B: In a 1.5 mL reactor, aldehyde **108** (1.2 equiv., 37 mg, 0.19 mmol), nitro olefin **2** (1 equiv., 0.15 mmol), cocatalyst **18** (10 mol-%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol), and catalyst **10b** (10 mol%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol) were dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (0.4 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 1–7 d at room temp., and then the mixture was directly purified by silica gel column chromatography using a mixture of heptane/EtOAc.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-4-nitro-1-oxo-3-phenylbutan-2-yl]-cyclopropyl}-carbamate

109: Synthesized according to general procedure B. The product was isolated (299 mg, 86%) as a white solid. The enantiomeric purity was retained as 98% *ee* [HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H; hexane/EtOH, 9:1; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; t_R = 6.44 (minor), t_R = 7.28 (major) min]. IR: v = 3384, 2979, 1715, 1555, 1434, 1367, 1270, 1161, 1031, 701 cm⁻¹.¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.44 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz, 1 H), 7.35–7.27 (m, 3 H), 7.25–7.21 (m, 2 H), 5.65 (dd, *J* = 13.0, 4.4 Hz, 1 H), 5.02 (s, 1 H), 4.83 (dd, *J* = 12.9, 9.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.96 (td, *J* = 10.5, 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 2.25 (d, *J* = 11.5 Hz, 1 H), 1.45 (s, 9 H), 1.35–1.29 (m, 1 H), 0.97–0.80 (m, 3 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 201.2, 155.9, 136.9, 129.4, 128.4, 128.3, 80.4, 79.0, 61.4, 42.8, 31.0, 28.4, 15.2, 14.2 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₅N₂O₅⁺ [M + H]⁺ 349.1758; found 349.1794.

(2*R*,3*S*)-2-(1-((tert-butoxycarbonyl)amino)cyclopropyl)-4-nitro-3-phenyl-butanoic acid 113⁷²

tert-Butyl *N*-{1-[(2*R*,3*S*)-4-Nitro-1-oxo-3-phenylbutan-2-yl]-cyclopropyl}-carbamate **109** (41 mg, 0.12 mmol) was dissolved in MeCN (350 μL, 0.33 M), and aq NaH₂PO₄ (90 μL, 0.83 M) was added. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0°C. 35% aq H₂O₂ (10 μL) and aq NaClO₂ (216 μL, 0.94 M) were added. The mixture was stirred for 30 min at room. temp., and then Na₂S₂O₃ was added, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temp. for 1 h. Then it was diluted with aq NaHCO₃ (3 mL, 1 M) and aq NaH₂PO₄ (3 mL, 0.83 M), and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (5 x 4.5 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give the product (38 mg, 86%) as a white solid. [*α*] $_D^{25}$ = -31.0 (*c* = 0.05, CHCl₃), m.p. 95–97 °C. IR: v = 3445, 2979, 1712, 1553, 1498, 1456, 1368, 1165, 1078, 759, 700 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): *δ* = 7.25–7.09 (m, 5H), 5.68–5.60 (m, 1 H), 4.74–4.62 (m, 1 H), 3.90 (td, *J* = 10.8, 4.3, Hz, 1 H), 2.18 (d, *J* = 11.5, Hz, 1 H), 1.62 (s, 1 H), 1.46 (s, 9 H), 0.94 (dt *J* = 11.2, 6.4 Hz, 1 H), 0.85 (dt, *J* = 10.0, 6.5 Hz, 1 H), 0.76 (dt, *J* = 11.0, 5.5 Hz, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): *δ* = 182.2, 156.1

138.0, 128.8, 128.3, 128.0, 80.4, 79.1, 56.8, 43.9, 32.0, 28.5, 16.9, 13.7 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{18}H_{24}N_2O_6Na^+$ [M + Na]⁺ 387.1527; found 387.1529.

(2*R*,3*S*)-4-amino-2-(1-((tert-butoxycarbonyl)amino)cyclopropyl)-3-phenyl-butanoic acid 114 (method 1)⁷²

(2*R*,3*S*)-2-(1-((tert-butoxycarbonyl)amino)cyclopropyl)-4-nitro-3-phenylbutanoic acid **113** (48 mg, 0.13 mmol) was dissolved in MeOH (4.8 mL, 0.55 M), and a suspension of Raney-Ni (300 mg) was added. The mixture was stirred for 23h at ambient temperature, under an H₂ atmosphere. The reaction mixture was filtered through Celite^{*}, and the filtrate was washed with aq MeCN (75 mL, MeCN/H₂O 2:1). The filtrate was concentrated and the crude product was purified by reversed phase column chromatography [gradient H₂O/AcOH (2000/1)/MeCN] to give the product (36 mg, 82%) as a white solid. [*α*] $_D^{25}$ = -2.2 (*c* = 0.26, H₂O), m.p. 150–155 °C. IR: v = 3419, 2978, 2931, 2879, 1713, 1581, 1496, 1455, 1391, 1367, 1170, 1076, 762, 701 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, D₂O): δ = 7.43–7.28 (m, 5H), 4.28–4.14 (m, 1 H), 3.33–3.15 (m, 2 H), 2.19 (d, *J* = 10.8, Hz, 1 H), 1.45 (s, 9 H), 1.27–1.17 (m, 1 H), 1.01 (dt, *J* = 11.9, 6.4 Hz, 1 H), 0.90 (dt, *J* = 10.3, 6.3 Hz, 1 H), 0.82–0.72 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, D₂O): δ = 178.1, 157.5, 138.3, 129.1, 128.4, 128.0, 80.8, 59.2, 43.9, 43.2, 31.6, 27.7, 15.7, 12.6 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₇N₂O₄⁺ [M + H]⁺ 334.1965; found 335.1973.

(2*R*,3*S*)-4-amino-2-(1-((tert-butoxycarbonyl)amino)cyclopropyl)-3-phenyl-butanoic acid 114 (method 2)⁷²

(2*R*,3*S*)-2-(1-((tert-butoxycarbonyl)amino)cyclopropyl)-4-nitro-3-phenylbutanoic acid **113** (24 mg, 0.07 mmol) was dissolved in MeOH (5 mL) under an argon atmosphere, and Pd/C (5%, 27 mg) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred for 7 d under H₂ atmosphere. The reaction mixture was filtered through Celite[®], and the filtrate was washed with CH₂Cl₂/(MeOH/NH₃) (4:1). The filtrate was concentrated to give the product (12 mg, 55%) as a white solid.

General method for the synthesis of ethyl 2-(5-oxo-2,3,4-triphenyl-2,5-dihydrofuran-2-yl)-acetate 86 (Publication III)

To a 4 ml test tube was sequentially added cyclopropenone **78** (30.9 mg, 0.15 mmol), β -ketoester **85** (19.2 mg, 0.1 mmol), catalyst (0.02 mmol, 20 mol%), base (0.2–5.0 equiv), and solvent (1 ml). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for the indicated time. Completion of the reaction was monitored by TLC and ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel to afford the pure product **86**, eluent petroleum ether – EtOAc, 20:1. Colorless oil. ¹H NMR spectrum (400 MHz, CDCl₃), δ = 7.34–7.42 (m, 5H), 7.29–7.34 (m, 1H), 7.20–7.27 (m, 7H), 6.82–6.85 (m, 2H), 4.16 (qd, *J* = 7.1, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 2H), 3.40 (d, *J* = 15.4 Hz, 1H), 3.28 (d, *J* = 15.4 Hz, 1H), 1.22 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H) ppm. ¹³C NMR spectrum (101 MHz, CDCl₃), δ = 171.9, 168.3, 162.9, 137.2, 131.7, 129.7, 129.4, 129.3, 129.0, 128.8, 128.7, 128.3, 127.5, 125.7, 87.0, 61.3, 40.1, 14.3 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₂₆H₂₃O₄ [M + H]⁺ 399.1591; found 399.1599.

Table 7. Supporting information concerning compounds discussed in the thesis but not presented in the Experimental section can be found in the corresponding publications.

Entry	Compound number	Compound number in publication			
	in thesis	I	П	111	
1	2a	5a	2a		
2	10a	6а	3		
3	10b	6b	7		
4	12		12		
5	18	10b	10		
6	78			1	
7	85			2	
8	86			3	
9	90	1			
10	91	2			
11	92	3			
12	93	4	1a		
13	95a	11a			
14	95b	11b			
15	95c	11c			
16	95d	11d			
17	95e	11e			
18	95f	11f			
19	95g	11g			
20	95h	11h			

21	95i	11 i		
22	97	9		
23	98	8		
24	99	7		
25	100	10a		
26	102		9	
27	108		1b	
28	109		5a	
29	110a		6a	
30	110b		6d	
31	110e		6b	
32	110g		6f	
33	110h		6j	
34	110i		6h	
35	110j		6c	
36	110k		6e	
37	110		6g	
38	110m		6i	
39	110n		6k	
40	1100		61	
41	110p		6m	
42	110q		6n	
43	110r		60	
44	111		8	

45	112a	13a	
46	112b	13b	
47	115		I
48	116		II
49	117		111
50	118		IV
51	119		V
52	120		VI
53	121		VII
54	122a		VIIIa
55	122b		VIIIb
56	122c		VIIIc
57	122d		VIIId
58	123		IX

References

- 1. Chandaa, T.; Zhao, J. C.-G. *Adv.Synth. Catal.* **2018**, *360*, 2.
- 2. Mukherjee, S.; Yang, J. W.; Hoffmann, S.; List, B. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5471.
- 3. Stork, G.; Szmuszkovicz, J.; Terrell, R.; Brizzolara, A.; Landesman, H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1963**, *85*, 207.
- 4. Hajos, Z. G.; Parrish, D. R. J. Org. Chem. **1974**, *39*, 1615.
- 5. Eder, U.; Sauer, G.; Wiechert, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1971, 10, 496.
- 6. Ishikawa, H.; Suzuki, T.; Hayashi, Y. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 1304.
- 7. Verkade, J. M. M.; Quaedflieg P. J. L. M.; Verzijl,G. K. M.; Lefort, L.; van Delft, F. L.; de Vriesc, J. G.; Rutjes, F. P. J. T. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 14462.
- 8. Chi, Y.; Guo, L.; Kopf, N. A.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 5608.
- 9. Palomo, C.; Vera, S.; Mielgo, A.; Gomez-Bengoa, E. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, 45, 5984.
- 10. Zhu, S.; Yu, S.; Ma, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 545.
- 11. Ruiz, N.; Reyes, E.; Vicario, J. L.; Badía, D.; Carrillo, L.; Uria, U. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2008**, *14*, 9357.
- 12. Cordova, A. *Catalytic Asymmetric Conjugate Reactions*, Wily-VCH: Weinheim, **2010**, p. 191-195.
- 13. (a) Seebach, D.; Goliński, J. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1981**, *64*, 1413. (b) Seebach, D.; Beck, A. K.; Goliński, J.; Hay, J. N.; Laube, T. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1985**, *68*, 162.
- 14. Tsogoeva, S. B. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 1701.
- 15. List, B.; Pojarliev, P.; Martin, H. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2423.
- 16. Betancort, J. M.; Barbas III, C. F. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3737.
- 17. Hayashi, Y.; Gotoh, H.; Hayashi, T.; Shoji M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4212.
- 18. Franzén, J.; Marigo, M.; Fielenbach, D.; Wabnitz, T. C.; Kjærsgaard, A.; Jørgensen K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127. 18296.
- 19. Patora-Komisarskaa, K.; Benohouda, M.; Ishikawaa, H.; Seebach, D.; Hayashi, Y. *Helv. Chim. Acta*, **2011**, *94*, 719.
- 20. Zheng, Z.; Perkins, B. L.; Ni, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 50.

- 21. Mase, N.; Barbas III, C. F. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2010**, *8*, 4043.
- 22. Wiesner, M.; Neuburger, M.; Wennemers H. Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 10103.
- 23. Duschmalé, J.; Wennemers H. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 1111.
- 24. Demir, A. S.; Eymur, S. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **2010**, *21*, 112.
- 25. Notz, W.; Tanaka, F.; Barbas, III, C. F. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 580.
- a) Burés, J.; Armstrong, A.; Blackmond, D. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, 134, 6741; corrigendum (for the assignment of 10a) Burés, J.; Armstrong, A.; Blackmond, D. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 14264.
- 27. Sahoo, G.; Rahaman, H.; Madarász, Á.; Pápai, I.; Melarto, M.; Valkonen, A.; Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2012**, *51*, 13144.
- 28. Chen, D. Y.-K.; Pouwerb, R. H.; Richard, J.-A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 4631.
- 29. (a) Simmons, H. E.; Smith, R. D. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.*, **1958**, *80*, 5323. (b) Cornwall, R. G.; Wong, O. A.; Du, H.; Ramirez T. A.; Shi, Y. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2012**, *10*, 5498.
- 30. Chanthamath, S.; Nguyen, D. T.; Shibatomi, K.; Iwasa, S. *Org. Letters*, **2013**, *15*, 772.
- 31. Papageorgiou, C. D.; Cubillo de Dios, M. A.; Ley S. V.; Gaunt, M. J. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **2004**, *43*, 2681.
- 32. Bartoli, G.; Bencivenni, G.; Dalpozzo, R. Synthesis, **2014**, *46*, 979.
- 33. Pellissier, H. *Tetrahedron*, **2008**, *64*, 7041.
- 34. Papageorgiou, C. D.; Cubillo de Dios, M. A.; Ley, S. V.; Gaunt M. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2004**, 43, 4641.
- 35. Aitken, L. S.; Hammond, L. E.; Sundaram, R.; Shankland, K.; Brown, G. D.; Cobb, A. J. A. *Chem. Commun. 2015*, **51**, 13558.
- 36. Xie, H.; Zu, L.; Li, H.; Wang, J.; Wang, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 10886.
- 37. Chen, X.; Yu , Y.; Liao , Z.; Li H.; Wang, W. Tetrahedron Letters, 2016, 57, 5742.
- Meazza, M.; Ashe, M.; Shin, H. Y.; Yang, H. S.; Mazzanti, A.; Yang, J. W.; Rios R. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 3488.
- 39. Rapi, Z.; Nemcsok, T.; Grün, A.; Pálvölgyi, Á.; Samu, G.; Hessz, D.; Kubinyi, M.; Kállay, M.; Keglevich, G.; Bakó, P. *Tetrahedron*, **2018**, *74*, 3512.

- 40. Noole, A.; Ošeka, M.; Pehk, T.; Öeren, M.; Järving, I.; Elsegood, M. R. J.; Malkov, A. V.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2013**, *355*, 829.
- 41, Noole, A.; Sucman, N. S.; Kabeshov, N. A.; Kanger, T.; Macaev, F. Z.; Malkov, A. V. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 14929.
- 42. Ošeka, M.; Noole, A.; Žari, S.; Ören, M.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, 3599.
- 43. Kulinkovich, O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevskii, D. A.; Pritytskaya, T. S. *Zh. Org. Khim.* **1989**, *25*, 2244.
- 44. Kulinkovich, O. G.; de Meijere, A. *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *10*0, 2789.
- 45. Wolan, A.; Six, Y. Tetrahedron, **2010**, *66*, 15.
- 46. Corey, E. J.; Rao S. A.; Noe, J, M. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 9345.
- 47. (a) Konik, Y. A.; Kananovich, D. G.; Kulinkovich, O. G. *Tetrahedron*, **2013**, *69*, 6673.(b) Kulinkovich, O. G.; Kananovich, D. G.; Lopp, M.; Snieckus, V. Adv. Synth. Catal., **2014**, *356*, 3615.
- 48. Barysevich, M. V.; Kazlova, V. V.; Kukel, A. G.; Liubina, A. I.; Hurski, A. L.; Zhabinskii, V. N. *Chem. Commun.* **2018**, *54*, 2800.
- 49. Bertus, P.; Szymoniak, J. *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 1792.
- 50. Laroche, C.; Harakat, D.; Bertus, P.; Szymoniak, *J. Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2005**, *3*, 3482.
- (a) Stammer, C. H. *Tetrahedron* **1990**, *46*, 2231.(b) Salaün, J.; Baird, M. S. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *2*, 511. (c) Salaün, J. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **1999**, *207*, 1. (d) Pirrung, M. C.; Cao, J.; Chen, J.; *J. Org. Chem.* **1995**, *60*, 5790.
- 52. Chaplinski, V.; de Meijere, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 413.
- 53. Brackmann, F; de Meijere, A. *Synthesis*, **2005**, *12*, 2008.
- 54. de Meijere, A.; Chaplinski, V.; Winsel, H.; Kordes, M.; Stecker, B.; Gazizova, V.; Savchenko, A. I.; Boese, R.; Schill (neé Brackmann), F. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 13862.
- 55. Kordes, M.; Winsel, H.; de Meijere, A. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *18*, 3235.
- (a) Gajcy, K.; Lochynski S.; Librowski, T. *Curr. Med. Chem.*, **2010**, *17*, 2338.
 (b) Levandovskiy, I. A.; Sharapa, D. I.; Shamota, T. V.; Rodinov V. N.; Shubina, T. E. *Future Med. Chem.* **2011**, *3*, 223

- 57. Aitken, D. J.; Drouin, L.; Goretta, S.; Guillot, R.; Ollivier J.; Spiga, M. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2011**, *9*, 7517.
- 58. Ordóñez , M.; Cativiela, C.: Romero-Estudillo, I. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **2016**, 27, 999.
- 59. Potts, K. T.; Baum, J.S. Chem. Rev. 1974, 74, 189.
- 60. Ugurchieva, T. M; Veselovsky, V. V. Russ. Chem. Rev., 2009, 78, 337.
- 61. Körner, O.; Gleiter, R.; Rominger, F. Synthesis, **2009**, *19*, 3259.
- 62. Ren, J.-T.; Wang, J.-X.; Tian, H.; Xu, J.-L.; Hu, H.; Aslam, M.; Sun, M. *Org. Lett.* **2018**, *20*, 6636.
- 63. Matsuda, T.; Tabata, Y.; Suzuki, H. *New. J. Chem.* **2018**, 42, 19178.
- 64. Li, X.; Han, C.; Yao, H.; Lin A. Org. Lett. **2017**, *19*, 778.
- 65. Xu, J.; Cao, J.; Fang, C.; Lu T.; Du D. Org. Chem. Front. 2017, 4, 560.
- 66. Krishna, T. R.; Jamaraman, N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9694.
- 67. Bertus, P.; Szymoniak, J. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3965.
- 68. (a) Luca, L. D.; Giacomelli, G.; Porccheddu, A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3041.
 (b) Gu, Y. G.; He, Y.; Yin, N.; Alexander, D. C.; Cross, J. B.; Metcalf, C. A. III; Buscher, R. Preparation of isoxazole derivatives as β-lactamase inhibitors. WO Patent WO 2013149136 A1/2013.
- 69. Alexakis, A. O.; Tomassini, A.; Bernardinelli, G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 1147.
- 70. Zhu, S; Yu, S.; Wang, Y.; Ma, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 4656.
- (a) Uehara, R. H.; Barbas III, C. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9848.; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 10032. (b) Uehara, R. H.; Barbas III, C. F. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 5250.
- 72. Kaasik, M., *master thesis*, "Tsüklopropaanatseetaldehüüdi derivaatide enantioselek-tiivne konjugeeritud liitumine nitroalkeenidele ja selle rakendus aminohapete sünteesis", **2015**, Tallinn University of Technology.
- 73. http://evans.rc.fas.harvard.edu/pdf/evans_pKa_table.pdf.
- 74. Jakab, G.; Tancon, C.; Zhang, Z.; Lippert, K. M.; Schreiner, P. R. *Org. Lett.*, **2012**, *14*, 1724.

Acknowledgements

This work was conducted in the Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology of Tallinn University of Technology, and was financially supported by the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (grant nos. IUT 19-32, PUT 1468) and "TUT Institutional Development Program for 2016-2022" Graduate School in Biomedicine and Biotechnology receiving funding from the European Regional Development Fund under program ASTRA 2014-2020.4.01.16-0032 in Estonia.

First, and above all, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Tõnis Kanger, for his thorough supervision, support and motivation throughout these years. I would like to thank Professor Margus Lopp for giving me the opportunity to work in the Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology.

I thank all the members of the Group of Organic Chemistry for lending a helping hand whenever needed and creating an enjoyable atmosphere in the lab.

Special thanks go to all the previous and current PhD students in our group, who shared ups and downs with me in this long journey: Kristin, Marju, Kerti, Kadri, Riina, Maksim, Artur and Mikk!

My endless gratitude goes to my family for their unconditional support.

Abstract Organocatalytic Asymmetric Michael Addition to Cyclopropyl Derivatives

There is a continuous demand for new efficient methods that can be applied for the synthesis of enantiopure compounds. Asymmetric organocatalytic synthesis is widely used method for the synthesis of chiral compounds. This thesis is focused on an enantioselective organocatalyzed Michael addition applied for the synthesis of a cyclopropyl group containing compounds. During the study conditions for the selective formation of different addition products were established. The highly strained cyclopropane moiety is an important motif in many biologically active compounds. Several methods have been developed to obtain chiral cyclopropane ring-containing compounds. Quite often the synthesis requires several steps and enantiopure starting material, thus the preparation methods of cyclopropane ring-containing compounds in enantiomerically pure form still pose a challenge.

The results of this thesis are divided into three chapters. The first study describes the synthesis of alkylidenecyclopropane derivatives via an asymmetric aminocatalytic Michael addition of aldehyde to nitroalkene derivatives. The novelty of the approach lies in the use of 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate **93**, as an aldehydes containing cyclopropane moiety had not been previously used as Michael donor in the Michael reaction. The developed method offers a new possibility to obtain several multifunctional compounds that have a broad synthetic utility.

The second chapter presents the use of amine-functionalized cyclopropylacetaldehyde as Michael donor for the synthesis of amino acid precursors. This allows the one-step introduction of the cyclopropane ring, as well as two different nitrogen-containing functional groups into the target compound. We have developed a general straightforward route to β - and γ -amino acid precursors.

The third chapter describes the study of the asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β -keto ester. The aim of the study was to investigate various organocatalytic activation modes for the synthesis of chiral butenolides. Four different catalytic approaches were investigated: bifunctional thiourea catalysis, chiral base catalysis, aminocatalysis and phase-transfer catalysis. The study revealed that in principal the use of phase-transfer catalysis could be the method of choice, but further investigation is needed.

Lühikokkuvõte Tsüklopropaani derivaatide asümmeetriline organokatalüütiline Michaeli liitumisreaktsioon

Aina kasvav nõudlus enantiomeerselt puhaste ainete järele sunnib teadlasi otsima nii uusi meetodeid kui ka leidma sobivaid lähteühendeid nende sünteesimiseks. Asümmeetrilised organokatalüütilised reaktsioonid on laialt levinud meetodid kiraalsete ühendite saamisel. Organokatalüüsi kõrval on käesolevas doktoritöös teiseks läbivaks teemaks tsüklopropaani ringi sisaldavad ühendid. Tsüklopropaani fragment on levinud struktuurielement bioloogiliselt aktiivsetes ühendites. Sageli hõlmab tsüklopropaani fragmenti sisaldava kiraalse ühendi süntees mitut etappi ja enantiomeerselt puhta lähteaine kasutamist. Seega on aktuaalne töötada välja sünteesimeetodeid uute seda tüüpi ühendite saamiseks.

Antud töös uuriti asümmetrilist organokatalüütilist Michaeli liitumisreaktsiooni tsüklopropaani fragmenti sisaldava aldehüüdi **93** ja nitroolefiinide vahel. Töötati välja enantioselektiivne organokatalüütiline meetod kasutades kiraalset aminokatalüsaatorit, mille efektiivsust tõstis sobiva vesinikdonoorse akiraalse ko-katalüsaatori lisamine. Michaeli liitumisreaktsiooni tulemusena saadi alkülideen tsüklopropaani derivaate kõrge enantiomeerse puhtustega (*ee* 85-99%), reaktsiooni käigus elimineerius atsüülrühm.

Vältimaks võimalikku elminieerumisreaktsiooni sünteesiti aminorühma sisaldav tsükloropaankarbaldehüüd **108**, ning viidi läbi organokatalüütiline Michaeli liitumis-reaktsioon sünteesitud aldehüüdi ja niroolefiinide vahel. Reaktsiooni tulemusena saadi β - ja γ -aminohapete eelühendid kõrge diastereo- ja enantiomeerse puhtusega (*d.r.* kuni 95:5 ja *ee* 93-99%).

Asümmeetrilised organokatalüütilised kaskaadreaktsioonid on levinud meetodid kiraalsete heteroaromaatsete ühendite saamiseks. Seetõttu keskenduti töö teises osas asümmeetrilise organokatalüütilise sünteesimeetodi leidmisele tsüklopropenooni ja β -ketoestri vahelise liitumisreaktsiooni jaoks. Uuriti nelja erinevat asümmeetrilise aktiveerimise meetodit kiraalse produkti saamiseks: bifunktsionaalne tiouurea katalüüs, aluskatalüüs, aminokatalüüs ja faaside-vaheline katalüüs.

Uuritud meetoditest osutus sobivaks asümmeetriline faaside-vaheline katalüüs. Valitud meetod vajab täiendavat uurimist, kuna katalüüsi käigus saadud produkti enantiomeerne puhtus jäi madalaks.

Appendix

Publication I

Reitel, K.; Lippur, K.; Järving, I.; Kudrjašova, M.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Asymmetric Aminocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopropane-Containing Aldehydes to Nitroalkenes. *Synthesis* **2013**, *45*, 2679-2683.

Reprinted with permission from Thieme.

Asymmetric Aminocatalytic Michael Addition of Cyclopropane-Containing Aldehydes to Nitroalkenes

Kärt Reitel, Kristin Lippur, Ivar Järving, Marina Kudrjašova, Margus Lopp, Tõnis Kanger*

Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia Fax +372 6202828; E-mail: kanger@chemnet.ee *Received: 15.02.2013; Accepted: 14.04.2013*

Abstract: An asymmetric aminocatalytic approach to alkylidenecyclopropane derivatives via Michael addition of aldehydes to nitroalkene derivatives was developed.

Key words: asymmetric catalysis, Michael addition, amines, organocatalysis, alkylidenecyclopropane

The asymmetric organocatalytic Michael addition of nucleophiles derived from carbonyl compounds to nitroolefins is a well-studied reaction.¹ The scope of the carbonyl Michael donors used in the reaction is wide, also includes derivatives of aldehydes and ketones. To the best of our knowledge, cyclopropane-containing aldehydes have not previously been used as Michael donors.

The asymmetric synthesis of cyclopropane-containing compounds is still a challenge so, considering the high synthetic utility of the derived compounds, new strategies to synthesize nonracemic functionalized cyclopropane derivatives are needed.² The Michael addition of cyclopropane-containing aldehydes to nitroolefins is an attractive option to synthesize such derivatives, especially considering the variety of efficient catalytic systems known for the asymmetric Michael reaction.³ We report here the results of α -functionalization of aldehydes with nitrostryrene derivatives, which is a part of our ongoing research on organocatalysis.⁴

The synthetic route to the starting aldehyde **4** is depicted in Scheme 1. Kulinkovich reaction⁵ of ethyl 3,3-diethoxypropanoate (1) led to cyclopropanol **2** in quantitative crude yield. Acetylation of the hydroxy group of crude **2** afforded cyclopropyl acetate **3** that underwent deacetalization with pyridinium 4-toluenesulfonate (PPTS) to afford aldehyde **4**.

The reaction between aldehyde **4** and nitrostyrene **5a** in the presence of various organocatalysts (Figure 1) was investigated as a model process (Table 1).

Surprisingly, no reaction occurred with the most widely used diphenylprolinol silyl ether $6a^6$ (Table 1, entry 1). The reaction proceeded only when the H-bonding catalyst *N*,*N*'-diethylthiourea (10a) was added, affording the product in low yield but with high stereoselectivity (entry 2).

SYNTHESIS 2013, 45, 2679–2683

Advanced online publication: 30.04.2013

DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1338704; Art ID: SS-2013-C0131-ST

© Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York



Scheme 1 Synthesis of 1-(2-oxoethyl)cyclopropyl acetate 4



Figure 1 Catalysts and co-catalysts screened

In all cases elimination of the acetoxy group occurred, affording alkylidenecyclopropane derivative **11a**.

The presence of an aminocatalyst is essential for the formation of the Michael donor from the aldehyde. Nitrostyrene can be activated via an H-bonding catalyst. In principal, if either of the catalysts is nonracemic, an enantioselective reaction may occur. In our experiments, the combination of an achiral secondary amine (pyrrolidine) with chiral squaramide derivatives 7^7 and 8^8 resulted in a racemic product after a very slow reaction (entries 4 and 5). Catalyst **9**,⁹ possessing both aminocatalytic and Hbonding catalytic properties in the same molecule, was also found to be inactive (entry 3). We concluded that the

Table 1 Screening of Catalysts for Michael Addition



^a No reaction.

stereoselectivity of the reaction is determined by the nonracemic aminocatalyst and hence the influence of the cocatalyst was investigated.

The mechanistic aspects of the Michael addition to nitrostyrene have been thoroughly studied.¹⁰ It was proposed that the rate-determining step of the reaction is the protonation of the cyclobutane derivative of the iminium nitronate intermediate. Recently Pihko and co-workers¹¹ suggested that the key intermediates of the reaction are six-membered dihydrooxazine species. They also found that the acidic co-catalyst 4-nitrophenol accelerates the reaction considerably, affording Michael adducts in high yields and selectivity, even with α -alkyl nitroalkenes.

Based on these observations, we screened the effects of various co-catalysts on the yield and the stereoselectivity of the model reaction (Table 2).

Table 2 Screening of Co-catalysts^a

Entry	Aminocatalyst	Co-catalyst	Yield (%) of 11a	ee (%)
1	6a	10a	43	90
2	6a	10b	41	89
3	6b	10b	36	89
4	6a	benzoic acid	43	91
5	6a	3,5-dinitrobenzoic acid	b	91
6	6a	4-nitrobenzoic acid	40	92
7	6a	4-nitrophenol	60	93
8	6b	4-nitrophenol	56	92

^a Conditions: aldehyde **4** (0.35 mmol), nitrostyrene **5a** (0.35 mmol), aminocatalyst (20 mol%), co-catalyst (20 mol%), CH₂Cl₂, r.t., 24 h. ^b Not determined. Achiral thioureas **10a** and **10b** as co-catalysts revealed a similar effect affording products in comparable yields and stereoselectivities (Table 2, entries 1 and 2). Changing the trimethylsilyl protective group of the aminocatalyst **6a** to the sterically more demanding *tert*-butyldiphenylsilyl group in **6b** did not influence the stereoselectivity, but slightly lowered the yield (entry 3). Quite similar results were obtained by adding benzoic acid or its derivatives (entries 4–6). 4-Nitrophenol was found to be the most selective and high-yielding co-catalyst (entries 7 and 8).

The reaction selectivity and yield depend on the acidity of the co-catalysts and 4-nitrophenol has an optimal pK_a value (pK_a in DMSO: **10b**, 8.5;¹² benzoic acid, 11.6;¹³ 3,5-dinitrobenzoic acid, 6.8;¹⁴ 4-nitrobenzoic acid, 8.9;¹⁴ 4nitrophenol, 10.8¹⁵).

With optimal reaction conditions in hand, the substrate scope for aldehyde **4** with different nitroolefins **5a–i** was explored (Table 3).

Table 3 Scope of the Reaction

	OAc + Ar	64 4 NO ₂ _ r 5a-i	a (20 mol%) -nitrophenol (20 mol%) .t., CH ₂ Cl ₂		
Entry	Ar	Time (d)	Product	Yield (%)	ee (%)
1	Ph	1	11a	60	93
2	$4\text{-}\mathrm{ClC}_6\mathrm{H}_4$	1	11b	38	95
3	$2\text{-}ClC_6H_4$	1	11c	38	95
4	$2\text{-}\mathrm{Br}\mathrm{C}_{6}\mathrm{H}_{4}$	1	11d	42	99
5	$4-MeOC_6H_4$	4	11e	27	87
6	$4\text{-}(F_3CO)C_6H_4$	1	11f	50	96
7	$4-O_2NC_6H_4$	4	11g	35	97
8	2-naphthyl	4	11h	34	92
9	2-thienyl	1	11i	27	85

We observed that all reactions were highly enantioselective and the substitution pattern did not influence the selectivity. Alkylidenecyclopropane derivatives **11** were obtained in high enantiomeric purity (85–99% ee). However, the yields of the reactions remained moderate; increasing the reaction time did not increase the yield of the product.

We conclude that the above-described enantioselective route to alkylidenecyclopropane aldehydes via aminocatalytic Michael addition to nitroalkenes offers a new possibility of obtaining several multifunctional compounds that have a broad synthetic utility. Full assignment of ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts is based on the 1D and 2D FT NMR spectra measured on a Bruker Avance III 400 MHz instrument. Residual solvent signal was used [$\delta = 7.26$ (¹H NMR), 77.16 (¹³C NMR)] as an internal standard. Mass spectra were recorded by using an Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD Accurate-Mass Q-TOF LC/MS spectrometer by using AJ-ESI ionization. IR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Tensor 27 FT infrared spectrophotometer. Optical rotations were obtained using an Anton Paar GWB Polarimeter MCP 500. Chiral HPLC was performed using Chiralcel OJ-H and Chiralpak AD-H columns. Precoated silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ plates from Merck were used for TLC, whereas for column chromatography silica gel KSK 40–100 µm was used. Chemicals were purchased from the Aldrich Chemical Co and were used as received. Reactions sensitive to oxygen or moisture were conducted under an argon atmosphere in flame-dried glassware.

1-(2,2-Diethoxyethyl)cyclopropan-1-ol (2)

To a soln of ethyl 3,3-diethoxypropanoate (1, 10.315 g, 54 mmol) in THF (54 mL) was added Ti(*Oi*-Pr)₄ (3.29 mL, 11 mmol) at 0 °C and 1.5 M EtMgBr in THF (105 mL, 157 mmol) over 6 h under an argon atmosphere; the deep black soln was stirred at r.t. for 12 h. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure. The precipitate was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (100 mL) and quenched with sat. NH₄Cl (15 mL) and filtered through a Celite pad. The filtrate containing aqueous and organic layers was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (4 × 50 mL). The combined organic layers were extracted with sat. NaHCO₃ (3 × 50 mL) and brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude product **2** (9.408 g, quant) as a slightly yellow liquid; $R_i = 0.31$ (EtOAc–heptane, 3:10).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 4.79 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz, 1 H), 3.76–3.68 (m, 2 H), 3.60 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1 H), 3.59–3.51 (m, 2 H), 1.88 (d, *J* = 5.8 Hz, 2 H), 1.22 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 6 H), 0.75 (q, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 2 H), 0.44 (q, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 2 H).

NMR spectroscopic data were in agreement with literature data.¹⁶

1-(2,2-Diethoxyethyl)cyclopropyl Acetate (3)

To a soln of 1-(2,2-diethoxyethyl)cyclopropan-1-ol (2, 9.408 g, 54 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) was added pyridine (8.730 g, 108 mmol) and DMAP (0.112 g, 0.918 mmol) at 0 °C. A soln of AcCl (4.910 g, 81 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was added dropwise at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred for 8 h at r.t. The reaction was quenched by the addition of H₂O (50 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (5 × 25 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with sat. NaHCO₃ (50 mL), dried (MgSO₄), and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was distilled in vacuo (bp 72–74 °C/1.9 mbar), affording **3** (8.71 g, 74%) as a pale yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.49$ (EtOAc–heptane, 3:10).

IR (neat): 2976, 1750, 1371, 1229, 1200, 1127, 1063 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 4.70 (t, *J* = 5.35 Hz, 1 H), 3.64 (q, *J* = 7.03 Hz, 1 H), 3.62 (q, *J* = 7.16 Hz, 1 H), 3.52 (q, *J* = 7.16 Hz, 1 H), 3.50 (q, *J* = 7.03 Hz, 1 H), 2.07 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2 H), 1.98 (s, 3 H), 1.20 (t, *J* = 7.09 Hz, 6 H), 0.87–0.79 (m, 2 H), 0.79–0.72 (m, 2 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 171.0, 101.3, 61.5, 57.1, 38.9, 21.5, 15.5, 11.8.

HRMS: $m/z [M + Na]^+$ calcd for $C_{11}H_{20}O_4Na$: 239.1254; found: 239.1255.

1-(2-Oxoethyl)cyclopropyl Acetate (4)

To a soln of 1-(2,2-diethoxyethyl)cyclopropyl acetate (**3**, 1.00 g, 4.6 mmol) in a mixture of acetone (9 mL) and H₂O (0.25 mL) was added at r.t. PPTS (0.196 g, 0.782 mmol); the mixture was refluxed for 8 h. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the precipitate was diluted with CH_2Cl_2 (13 mL) and washed with sat. NaHCO₃ (10 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (5 × 5 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure.

fied by column chromatography (EtOAc–hexanes, 1.5:10) to afford **4** (0.364 g, 58%) as a colorless liquid; $R_f = 0.27$ (EtOAc–heptane, 3:10).

IR (neat): 2841, 1747, 1729, 1371, 1223, 1172, 858 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.84 (t, J = 2.5 Hz, 1 H), 2.76 (d, J = 2.5 Hz, 2 H), 1.98 (s, 3 H), 1.04–0.98 (m, 2 H), 0.88–0.81 (m, 2 H).

 ^{13}C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 200.3, 171.2, 55.1, 48.9, 21.3, 11.7.

HRMS: m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₇H₁₁O₃: 143.0703; found: 143.0705.

Alkylidenecyclopropanes; General Procedure

To aldehyde 4 (50 mg, 0.35 mmol) was added 4-nitrophenol (10 mg, 0.07 mmol), nitroalkene 5 (0.35 mmol), and a soln of catalyst 6a (23 mg, 0.07 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.2 mL). The mixture was stirred at r.t. until completion of the reaction (TLC monitoring). The mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (6 mL) and washed with aq 1 M NaOH (6 mL) and brine (6 mL). After concentration under reduced pressure, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc-hexanes, 1:10) to afford alkylidenecyclopropane 11.

2-Cyclopropylidene-4-nitro-3-phenylbutanal (11a)

Yellow oil; yield: 46 mg (60%); $R_f = 0.42$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –84.0 (*c* 0.075, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 8:2, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): $t_{\rm R} = 27.19$ (major), 24.69 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2831, 1680, 1553, 1431, 1216, 700 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.67 (s, 1 H), 7.34–7.21 (m, 5 H), 5.11 (dd, *J* = 12.7, 8.9 Hz, 1 H), 4.97–4.90 (m, 1 H), 4.83 (dd, *J* = 12.7, 7.1 Hz, 1 H), 1.58–1.44 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.0, 149.4, 137.8, 130.3, 129.1, 128.0, 127.9, 77.2, 42.5, 3.5, 1.8.

HRMS: m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $C_{13}H_{14}NO_3$: 232.0968; found: 232.0971.

3-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-cyclopropylidene-4-nitrobutanal (11b)

Yellow oil; yield: 39 mg (38%); $R_f = 0.41$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25} - 90.0$ (*c* 0.081, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250×4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 9:1, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): $t_{\rm R} = 10.03$ (major), 11.54 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2833, 2725, 1680, 1553, 1376, 1217, 1092, 1014, 830 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.65 (s, 1 H), 7.30–7.25 (m, 2 H), 7.20–7.16 (m, 2 H), 5.06 (dd, *J* = 12.28, 8.0 Hz, 1 H), 4.88 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 7.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.82 (dd, *J* = 12.37, 7.51 Hz, 1 H), 1.59–1.42 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 191.91, 149.75, 136.29, 133.83, 129.99, 129.33, 129.21, 76.91, 41.95, 3.52, 1.91.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{13}H_{13}CINO_3$: 266.0578; found: 266.0559.

3-(2-Chlorophenyl)-2-cyclopropylidene-4-nitrobutanal (11c)

Yellow oil; yield: 39 mg (38%); $R_f = 0.35$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –52.5 (*c* 0.072, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250×4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 95:5, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): $t_{\rm R} = 11.02$ (major), 10.33 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2834, 1681, 1555, 1279, 1177, 1135, 756 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.68 (s, 1 H), 7.40–7.36 (m, 1 H), 7.25–7.18 (m, 3 H), 5.39–5.34 (m, 1 H), 5.07 (dd, *J* = 13.43, 8.95

SPECIAL TOPIC

Hz, 1 H), 4.82 (dd, *J* = 13.49, 6.92 Hz, 1 H), 1.57–1.49 (m, 2 H), 1.47–1.38 (m, 1 H), 1.38–1.32 (m, 1 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.1, 151.7, 134.8, 134.2, 130.4, 129.1, 128.8, 128.7, 127.2, 75.4, 39.8, 3.8, 2.0.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{13}H_{13}CINO_3$: 266.0578; found: 266.0582.

3-(2-Bromophenyl)-2-cyclopropylidene-4-nitrobutanal (11d) Yellow oil; yield: 45 mg (42%); $R_f = 0.39$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –37.6 (*c* 0.104, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralcel OJ-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 9:1, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): t_R = 35.62 (major), 34.29 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2848, 1681, 1553, 1437, 1375, 1225, 1024, 756 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.70 (s, 1 H), 7.59 (dd, *J* = 7.90, 1.2 Hz, 1 H), 7.28–7.19 (m, 2 H), 7.16–7.11 (m, 1 H), 5.40–5.33 (m, 1 H), 5.06 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 9.0 Hz, 1 H), 4.80 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.58–1.47 (m, 2 H), 1.47–1.39 (m, 1 H), 1.36–1.28 (m, 1 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.1, 151.7, 136.5, 133.8, 129.4, 128.8, 128.8, 127.8, 124.9, 75.4, 42.3, 3.9, 2.0.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{13}H_{13}BrNO_3$: 310.0073; found: 310.0088.

2-Cyclopropylidene-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-4-nitrobutanal (11e) Yellow oil; yield: 25 mg (27%); R_f = 0.30 (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –43.0 (*c* 0.043, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–i-PrOH, 9:1, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): t_R = 12.18 (major), 13.44 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2960, 1747, 1681, 1555, 1373, 1278, 1135, 897, 845, 702, 683 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.66 (s, 1 H), 7.19–7.13 (m, 2 H), 6.85–6.79 (m, 2 H), 5.07 (dd, *J* = 12.4, 8.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.90–4.83 (m, 1 H), 4.79 (dd, *J* = 12.4, 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 3.77 (s, 3 H), 1.57–1.44 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.1, 159.2, 149.0, 130.6, 129.7, 129.0, 114.4, 77.4, 55.4, 41.8, 3.5, 1.8.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{14}H_{16}NO_4$: 262.1074; found: 262.1084.

2-Cyclopropylidene-4-nitro-3-[4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenyl]butanal (11f)

Yellow oil; yield: 56 mg (50%); $R_f = 0.41$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25} = 95.7$ (*c* 0.061, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 95:5, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): t_R = 9.94 (major), 11.64 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2835, 1681, 1555, 1263, 1220, 1166, 852, 677 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.66 (s, 1 H), 7.32–7.26 (m, 2 H), 7.17–7.13 (m, 2 H), 5.08 (dd, *J* = 12.6, 8.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.97–4.90 (m, 1 H), 4.84 (dd, *J* = 12.6, 7.4 Hz, 1 H), 1.60–1.43 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 191.9, 149.9, 148.8, 136.5, 130.0, 129.4, 121.5, 120.6 (q, ¹*J*_{CF} = 257 Hz), 76.9, 41.9, 3.5, 1.9.

HRMS: m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for $C_{14}H_{13}F_3NO_4$: 316.0791; found: 316.0786.

2-Cyclopropylidene-4-nitro-3-(4-nitrophenyl)butanal (11g)

Yellow oil; yield: 34 mg (35%); $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -52.9 (*c* 0.055, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 8:2, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): t_R = 14.25 (major), 19.13 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2838, 1681, 1556, 1521, 1375, 1349, 1177, 856, 717 cm⁻¹.

Synthesis 2013, 45, 2679-2683

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 9.65$ (s, 1 H), 8.19–8.14 (m, 2 H), 7.64–7.42 (m, 2 H), 5.09 (dd, J = 12.3, 7.8 Hz, 1 H), 5.04–5.00 (m, 1 H), 4.91 (dd, J = 12.2, 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 1.64–1.48 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 191.6, 150.7, 147.6, 145.1, 129.4, 129.0, 124.3, 76.4, 42.4, 3.6, 2.2.

HRMS: m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₃H₁₃N₂O₅: 277.0819; found: 277.0822.

2-Cyclopropylidene-3-(naphthalen-2-yl)-4-nitrobutanal (11h) Yellow oil; yield: 34 mg (34%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –171.9 (*c* 0.066, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 95:5, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): $t_{\rm R} = 17.54$ (major), 19.69 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2832, 1681, 1555, 1376, 1223, 856, 750 cm⁻¹.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 9.69$ (s, 1 H), 7.82–7.76 (m, 3 H), 7.70 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 1 H), 7.51–7.43 (m, 2 H), 7.33 (dd, J = 8.6, 1.9 Hz, 1 H), 5.19 (dd, J = 12.5, 8.8 Hz, 1 H), 5.13–5.07 (m, 1 H), 4.94 (dd, J = 12.5, 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.59–1.46 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 192.1, 149.7, 135.2, 133.4, 132.8, 130.3, 128.9, 128.0, 127.8, 126.9, 126.6, 126.4, 125.7, 77.1, 42.5, 3.6, 1.8.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{17}H_{16}NO_3$: 282.1125; found: 282.1132.

2-Cyclopropylidene-4-nitro-3-(thiophen-2-yl)butanal (11i)

Yellow oil; yield: 23 mg (27%); $R_f = 0.47$ (ÉtOAc–hexanes, 2:5); $[\alpha]_D^{25} - 76.7$ (*c* 0.042, MeOH).

The ee of the product was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H, 250 × 4.6 mm, column, hexane–*i*-PrOH, 95:5, 1 mL/min, UV 230 nm): $t_{R} = 12.00$ (major), 13.29 min (minor).

IR (neat): 2836, 2727, 1681, 1556, 1374, 1279, 1137, 1068, 703, 683 $\rm cm^{-1}.$

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.69 (s, 1 H), 7.18 (dd, *J* = 5.0, 1.4 Hz, 1 H), 6.94 (ddd, *J* = 3.6, 1.4, 0.7 Hz, 1 H), 6.92 (dd, *J* = 5.0, 3.6 Hz, 1 H), 5.27–5.20 (m, 1 H), 5.08 (dd, *J* = 13.0, 9.0 Hz, 1 H), 4.86 (dd, *J* = 13.0, 7.1 Hz, 1 H), 1.58–1.49 (m, 4 H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 191.6, 150.1, 140.5, 130.1, 127.3, 126.1, 125.1, 77.6, 37.7, 3.5, 2.0.

HRMS: $m/z [M + H]^+$ calcd for $C_{11}H_{12}NO_3S$: 238.0532; found: 238.0540.

Acknowledgment

The authors thank the Estonian Science Foundation (Grant No. 8289), the Ministry of Education and Research (Grant No. 0140060s12), and the EU European Regional Development Fund (3.2.0101.08-0017) for financial support, and Prof. Oleg Kulinkovich for discussions.

Supporting Information for this article is available online at http://www.thieme-connect.com/ejournals/toc/synthesis.

References

- For recent reviews, see: (a) Sulzer-Mossé, S.; Alexakis, A. *Chem. Commun.* 2007, 3123. (b) Tsogoeva, S. B. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2007, 1701. (c) Roca-Lopez, D.; Sadaba, D.; Delso, I.; Herrera, R. P.; Tejero, T.; Merino, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2010, 21, 2561.
- (2) For recent reviews, see: (a) Chen, D. Y.-K.; Pouwerb, R. H.; Richard, J.-A. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2012, *41*, 4631. (b) Pellissier, H. *Tetrahedron* 2010, *66*, 8341.

© Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York

- (3) For selected examples, see: (a) Andrey, O.; Alexakis, A.; Tomassini, A.; Bernardinelli, G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 1147. (b) Mossé, S.; Laars, M.; Kriis, K.; Kanger, T.; Alexakis, A. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2559. (c) Huang, H.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 7170.
 (d) Enders, D.; Wang, C.; Greb, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2010, 352, 987. (e) Rahaman, H.; Madarász, Á.; Pápai, I.; Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 6123. (f) Duschmalé, J.; Wennemers, H. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 1111.
- (4) (a) Laars, M.; Ausmees, K.; Uudsemaa, M.; Tamm, T.; Kanger, T.; Lopp, M. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 3772.
 (b) Noole, A.; Borissova, M.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 1538. (c) Noole, A.; Järving, I.; Werner, F.; Lopp, M.; Malkov, A.; Kanger, T. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 4922.
 (d) Noole, A.; Sucman, N. S.; Kabeshov, M. A.; Kanger, T.; Macaev, F. Z.; Malkov, A. V. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 14929. (e) Noole, A.; Pehk, T.; Järving, I.; Lopp, M.; Kanger, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2012, 23, 188.
- (5) Kulinkovich, O. G.; de Meijere, A. *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *100*, 2789.
- (6) Hayashi, Y.; Gotoh, H.; Hayashi, T.; Shoji, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4212.
- (7) Lee, J. W.; Ryu, T. H.; Oh, J. S.; Bae, H. Y.; Janga, H. B.; Song, C. E. Chem. Commun. 2009, 7224.

- (8) Malerich, J. P.; Hagihara, K.; Rawal, V. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 14416.
- (9) Albrecht, L.; Dickmeiss, G.; Acosta, F. G.; Rodríguez-Escrich, C.; Davis, R. L.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 2543.
- (10) (a) Patora-Komisarska, K.; Benohoud, M.; Ishikawa, H.; Seebach, D.; Hayashi, Y. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2011, *94*, 719.
 (b) Burés, J.; Armstrong, A.; Blackmond, D. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133*, 8822.
- (11) Sahoo, G.; Rahaman, H.; Madarász, Á.; Pápai, I.; Melarto, M.; Valkonen, A.; Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 13144.
- (12) Jakab, G.; Tancon, C.; Zhang, Z.; Lippert, K. M.; Schreiner, P. R. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 1724.
- (13) Olmstead, W. N.; Bordwell, F. G. J. Org. Chem. **1980**, 45, 3299.
- (14) Matthews, W. S.; Bares, J. E.; Bartmess, J. E.; Bordwell, F. G.; Cornforth, F. J.; Drucker, G. E.; Margolin, Z.; McCallum, R. J.; McCollum, G. J.; Vanier, N. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 7006.
- (15) Bordwell, F. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 456.
- (16) Limbach, M.; Dalai, S.; de Meijere, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 760.

Publication II

Kaasik, M.; Noole, A.; Reitel, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T. Organocatalytic Conjugate Addition of Cyclopropylacetaldehyde Derivatives to Nitro Olefins: en Route to β - and γ -Amino Acids. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* **2015**, *8*, 1745-1753.

Reprinted with permission from Wiley.


DOI: 10.1002/ejoc.201403387

Organocatalytic Conjugate Addition of Cyclopropylacetaldehyde Derivatives to Nitro Olefins: en Route to B- and y-Amino Acids

Mikk Kaasik,^[a] Artur Noole,^[a] Kärt Reitel,^[a] Ivar Järving,^[a] and Tõnis Kanger^{*[a]}

Keywords: Organocatalysis / Michael addition / Small ring systems / Amino acids

Cyclopropane-containing amino acids are important pharmaceuticals and biologically active compounds. A new organocatalytic asymmetric Michael reaction has been developed. This allows the one-step introduction of the cyclopropane ring, as well as two different nitrogen-containing func-

Introduction

Cyclopropane stands out among other ring systems (four-, five-, and six-membered rings) owing to its unique reactivity profile. Various methods have been developed for the asymmetric synthesis of cyclopropanes: the Simmons-Smith reaction,^[1] MIRC (Michael-induced ring closure),^[2] transition-metal-catalysed decomposition of diazo compounds.^[3] the Kulinkovich reaction.^[4] double alkylation of glycine,^[5] rearrangement of lactones,^[6] and miscellaneous other methods, which have been reviewed by Pellissier.^[7] However, many of these methods are limited in their substrate scope, and involve the use of expensive transition metals or hazardous starting materials. Therefore, new and efficient methods for the introduction of a cyclopropane fragment under mild conditions continue to be very important

Amino acids play a central role as the "building blocks of life". They are the key starting materials for peptide synthesis, and also for the synthesis of various lead compounds for the pharmacological industry that contain amino acid functionalities. Unnatural (and natural) β-amino acids have been synthesised by aza-Michael additions,^[8] aziridine or epoxide openings, carbene-catalysed umpolung reactions, oxidation etc.^[9] Although numerous methods have been reported for the formation of the C-N bond in β-amino acids, the introduction of a cyclopropane ring at the position α to the nitrogen remains a challenge.

Many natural and synthetic chiral amino acids containing a cyclopropane core have been identified (Figure 1).^[10] Inspired by the unique properties introduced by the cyclopropane ring to a wide variety of different compounds, we

Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia E-mail: tonis.kanger@ttu.ee http://www.chem.ttu.ee/chem_en

Supporting information for this article is available on the WWW under http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.201403387.

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 1745-1753

© 2015 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

Wiley Online Library 1745

tional groups (tert-butoxycarbonylamino and nitro) into the target compounds. All the products were isolated in good yields with moderate to excellent enantio- and diastereoselectivities.

recently reported a simple Michael-addition reaction of cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative 1a to nitro alkenes 2 (Scheme 1).^[11] This simple reaction, promoted by chiral secondary amine 3 and *p*-nitrophenol, delivered a series of alkylidene cyclopropanes 4 in moderate to good yields (27-60%) with high enantioselectivities (85–97% ee). The β -elimination of the acetate group excluded the possibility of the formation of diastereoisomers, and the products could be used as building blocks for further transformations, providing an excellent starting point for further studies.



Figure 1. Cyclopropane-containing amino acids; DDC = Dopa decarboxylase.



Scheme 1. Previous work; TMS = trimethylsilyl.

FULL PAPER

We realised that by replacing the acetate group with an amino functionality we could not only eradicate the elimination pathway, but also achieve a direct synthesis of β - and γ-amino acid precursors.[12]

Results and Discussion

In this paper, we report a simple, one step organocatalytic asymmetric Michael reaction between amine-functionalised cyclopropylacetaldehyde derivative 1b and nitro alkenes 2. Inspired by the considerations mentioned above, as well as by our previous work (Scheme 1), we envisioned that replacing the acetate moiety by a protected amino group could provide an easy route to precursors of β-amino acids (Scheme 2). Not only that, but γ -amino acids could also be prepared from the Michael adducts by reduction of the nitro group.



Scheme 2. Proposed reaction for the formation of amino acid precursors; PG = protecting group.

Aldehyde 1b was synthesised starting from cheap, commercially available starting materials (Scheme 3).^[13] Michael addition of benzyl alcohol to acrylonitrile followed by Kulinkovich cyclopropanation, Boc (tert-butoxycarbonyl) protection, debenzylation, and Dess-Martin oxidation gave amine-functionalised aldehyde 1b in five steps. The Boc protecting group allows the two nitrogen-containing functionalities to be discriminated in the further derivatisation of amino acid precursors 11.

Based on our previous findings with acetate-containing aldehyde 1a, preliminary experiments for the Michael addition were carried out in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature in the presence of a chiral catalyst and an acidic cocatalyst (Table 1; Figure 2).^[10]

Table 1. Screening for the reaction between amino aldehvde 1b and nitrostyrene 2a.



2	3/10	CH_2Cl_2	17	49	88:12	96
3	3/9 ^[a]	CH_2Cl_2	23	74	75:25	98
4	3/10 ^[a]	CH_2Cl_2	24	69	83:17	92
5	12/10 ^[a]	CH_2Cl_2	4 d	traces	n.d.	n.d.
6	8/10 ^[a]	CH_2Cl_2	7 d	-	-	_
7	7/10 ^[a]	CH_2Cl_2	20	85	94:6	97
8	7/10 ^[a]	toluene	30	72	90:10	95
9	7/10 ^[a]	CHCl ₃	24	63	90:10	95
10	7/10 ^[b]	CH_2Cl_2	26	74	95:5	98
11	7/10 ^[b,c]	CH_2Cl_2	29	60	95:5	98
12	7/13a ^[b]	CH_2Cl_2	7 d	30	58:42	55
13	7/13h[b]	CH ₂ Cl ₂	7 d	traces	n d	n d

[a] 20 mol-% of cocatalyst was used. [b] 10 mol-% of catalyst was used. [c] 5 mol-% of cocatalyst was used. [d] Isolated yield of 6a. [e] Determined from the crude mixture by ¹H NMR spectroscopy for aldehyde 5. [f] Determined by chiral HPLC for alcohol 6a.

Treatment with Jørgensen-Hayashi type catalyst 3 in the presence of *p*-nitrophenol followed by in situ reduction gave the corresponding alcohol (i.e., 6) in 53% yield with moderate selectivity (Table 1, entry 1). The aldehydes (i.e., 5) can be isolated, as was later demonstrated for a large scale synthesis of 5a. However, on a small scale, the yields of aldehyde 5 were inconsistent. A great improvement in enantioselectivity was observed by switching to thiourea-based cocatalyst 10 (Table 1, entry 2). Increasing the cocatalyst loading to 20 mol-% increased the yield significantly for reactions cocatalysed by both *p*-nitrophenol 9 and thiourea 10



1

Scheme 3. Synthesis of amine-containing cyclopropanecarbaldehyde 1b.

Catalysts:



Figure 2. Catalysts and cocatalysts used during the reaction optimisation; TBS = *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl.

(Table 1, entries 3 and 4). Chiral amines 12 and 8 failed to give the expected product, and almost no reaction was seen after 4-7 d (Table 1, entries 5 and 6). Significant enhancements of both diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity were observed with combinations of catalyst 7 and cocatalyst 10 (Table 1, entry 7). Switching the solvent to toluene or chloroform had a detrimental effect on the yield and diastereoselectivity (Table 1, entries 8 and 9). However, the catalyst loading for both chiral amine 7 and thiourea 10 was successfully lowered to 10 mol-% (Table 1, entry 10). A further decrease in catalyst loading resulted in a drop in the reaction rate and yield (Table 1, entry 11). Replacing the achiral cocatalyst with Takemoto's thiourea (both enantiomers were tested) resulted in the isolation of the product with a diastereoisomeric ratio of almost 1:1 and moderate enantioselectivity, or no reaction at all (Table 1, entries 12 and 13).

Having established the optimal conditions (10 mol-%) of both amine 7 and thiourea 10 in CH_2Cl_2 at r.t.) we went on to explore the full scope of the reaction. Nitro alkenes with both electron-donating and electron-withdrawing groups gave the expected Michael adducts in good yields and high diastereo- and enantioselectivities (Table 2, entries 1–6). With a *para*-nitrophenyl-substituted nitro alkene, the reaction time increased due to the low solubility of **2f** (Table 2, entry 6).

Heteroaromatic nitro olefins **2** were also compatible with the reaction conditions, although in some cases prolonged reaction times (Table 2, entries 9 and 10) or higher catalyst loadings (Table 2, entry 9) proved necessary to achieve full conversion. Propargyl-substituted nitro alkene **2k** gave the corresponding product with a lower diastereoselectivity, but in a high yield, and with an excellent enantioselectivity for the major diastereomer (Table 2, entry 11). With ester-substituted nitro olefin **2l**, complete regioselectivity was observed (Table 2, entry 12). Although the diastereoselectivity Table 2. Screening for the reaction between aldehyde **1b** and nitro alkenes **2**.

Boc		\sim 0^{+R^1} R^2 b 2	10 ₂ 2) 7/10 (10 m DCM, r.t.) NaBH ₄ MeOH, r.t.	iol-%) 	HN ^{-Boo} R ¹ (major)	OH NO ₂ R ²
Entry	2	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	Time [h]	Yield [%] ^[c]	dr ^[d]	ее [%] ^[е]
1	2a	C ₆ H ₅	Н	25	74	95:5	99
2	2b	4-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	Н	28	70	89:11	98
3	2c	2-Br-C ₆ H ₄	Н	49	65	95:5	99
4	2d	$4-Cl-C_6H_4$	Н	48	78	95:5	98
5	2e	3-Br-C ₆ H ₄	Η	46	56	94:6	99
6	2f	$4-NO_2-C_6H_4$	Η	79	69	95:5	98
7	2g	furan-2-yl	Η	24	79	80:20	97
8	2h	thiofuran-2-yl	Н	29 ^[a]	75	86:14	94
9	2i	pyridine-3-yl	Н	6 d	56 ^[b]	88:12	93 ^[f]
10	2j	naphthalene-1-yl	Н	5 d	74	85:15	93
11	2k	$C_6H_5-C\equiv C$	Н	24	86	69:31	97/65
12	21	CH ₃ CH ₂ O(O)C	Н	47	57 ^[b]	72:28	99/92 ^[f]
13	2m	$C_{6}H_{11}$	Н	7 d	47 ^[b]	83:17	99 ^[f]
14	2n	C_6H_5	CH ₃	7 d	-	-	-
15	20	-(CH ₂) ₄ -		7 d	-	-	-

[a] 15 mol-% of **7/10** was used. [b] Product was isolated as aldehyde **5**. [c] Isolated yield of **6a**. [d] Determined from the crude mixture by ¹H NMR spectroscopy for aldehyde **5a**. [e] Determined by chiral HPLC for alcohol **6**. [f] Determined by chiral HPLC for aldehyde **5**.

was moderate, an excellent level of enantiocontrol was retained for both isomers.

Aliphatic substrate **2m** proved considerably less reactive than the aromatic nitro alkenes, but nevertheless, the product was isolated in moderate yield, with good diastereoselectivity and high enantioselectivity (Table 2, entry 13). An α -substituted nitro olefin (α -methyl nitrostyrene **2n**) and a α , β -disubstituted aliphatic nitro olefin (1-nitrocyclohexene **20**) did not react, even after 7 d in the presence of 30 mol-% of catalyst and cocatalyst (Table 2, entries 14 and 15).

The formation of the anti-configured Michael products can be rationalised by the Z configuration of the reactive enamine (Figure 3). It has been shown that enamine formation can be substrate controlled, and that the Z-enamine can be stabilised by intramolecular hydrogen bonding.^[14] We suppose that a hydrogen bond between the nitrogen atom of the pyrrolidine ring and the NH of the NHBoc group is responsible for the Z configuration of the enamine. As predicted by Seebach's synclinal transition state model, the anti-configured Michael product is obtained.[15] The absolute stereochemistry is determined by a sterically less hindered nucleophilic attack from the Re-face of the enamine onto the Si-face of the nitrostyrene to give the product with a 2R,3S configuration. Based on previous studies of the mechanism of the Michael addition of aldehydes to nitro olefins^[16] (most recently by Pihko et al.),^[17] the key intermediate in the reaction is a six-membered dihydrooxazine oxide (OO). Although according to Pihko et al. the OO



Scheme 4. Formation of ester 11 from aldehyde 5a.

species are in equilibrium with cyclobutanes, only the OO intermediates can be protonated in the rate-determining step, thus leading to the expected Michael adducts. The great importance of an acidic additive was also supported by our work, as no reaction occurred without an acidic co-catalyst. However, with acetate-substituted aldehyde **1a**, *p*-nitrophenol **9** proved to be the most active and selective cocatalyst, but for aldehyde **1b**, thiourea **10** gave the products with higher diastereoselectivities.



Figure 3. Proposed mechanism for the Michael addition.

To further investigate the feasibility of forming β -amino acids from Michael adducts 5, aldehyde 5a was converted into the corresponding methyl ester (i.e., 11) under oxidative conditions (unoptimised; Scheme 4). Saponification of the ester group in 11 and deprotection of the amine would lead to the corresponding cyclopropane β -amino acids.^[18] A formal synthesis of γ -amino acids can be achieved by reduction of the nitro group^[19] in ester 11 (Scheme 4). Also, cyclopropyl-substituted pyrrolidine derivatives could be obtained from aldehyde 5 through intramolecular reductive amination,^[20] or the corresponding γ -lactams from ester 11.^[21]

The absolute and relative stereochemistry of the products was established by single-crystal X-ray diffraction of one of the products (i.e., 6c). The stereochemistry of the other compounds in the series was assigned by analogy (Figure 4).



Figure 4. X-ray structure of alcohol 6c.^[22] The absolute configuration was determined based on the anomalous dispersion effect.

Conclusions

In summary, we have developed a general, straightforward route to β - and γ -amino acid precursors **5**/6, as well as to unsaturated cyclopropane-containing aldehydes **4**. Both series of products can serve as building blocks for further chemical transformations. We have shown that aldehyde **5a** can be converted into the corresponding ester (i.e., **11**), which can serve as the starting material for the formation of amino acids.

Experimental Section

General Information: Commercially available reagents were used without further purification. CH_2Cl_2 and chloroform were dried by distillation from P_2O_5 , diethyl ether from LiAlH₄, and MeOH and toluene from sodium metal. All air- or moisture-sensitive reactions

were carried out under an argon atmosphere using oven-dried glassware. The reactions were monitored by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) with silica-gel-coated aluminum plates (Merck 60 F254), which were visualised with KMnO₄, anisaldehyde, or ninhydrin stains, yields refer to chromatographically purified or crystallised products. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 400 MHz, and are reported in parts per million (δ) relative to tetramethylsilane. Spectra were calibrated using residual solvent signals. Data for ¹H NMR spectra are given as follows: chemical shift δ (ppm), multiplicity (s = singlet, br. = broad, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, dd = doublet of doublets, m = multiplet), coupling constant J [Hz], and relative integration. 13C NMR spectra were recorded at 100 MHz, and are reported in parts per million (δ) relative to tetramethylsilane. Spectra were calibrated using solvent signals. HRMS spectra were recorded with an Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD accurate-mass Q-TOF LC-MS spectrometer using AJ-ESI ionisation. Optical rotations were measured with an Anton Paar GWB MCP500 polarimeter. Chiral HPLC was carried out using either a Lux Amylose-2, a Chiralcel OD-H, a Chiralcel OJ-H, a Chiralpak AD-H, or a Chiralpak AS-H column.

3-(Benzyloxy)propanenitrile: Synthesised according to a literature procedure. Analytical data matched those reported in the literature.^[23] Yield 13.4 g, 97%. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.42–7.27 (m, 5 H), 4.59 (s, 2 H), 3.69 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2 H), 2.62 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2 H) ppm.

1-[2-(Benzyloxy)ethyl]cyclopropan-1-amine: Synthesised according to a literature procedure. Analytical data matched those reported in the literature.^[24] Yield 8.5 g, 65%. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.36-7.27$ (m, 5 H), 4.53 (s, 2 H), 3.68 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2 H), 1.87 (s, 2 H), 1.73 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2 H), 0.60–0.55 (m, 2 H), 0.45–0.41 (m, 2 H) ppm.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[2-(Benzyloxy)ethyl]cyclopropyl}carbamate: 1-(2-Benzyloxyethyl)cyclopropylamine (4.533 g, 23.7 mmol) was dissolved in water (40.5 mL) and tert-butanol (28.3 mL), and the mixture was cooled to 0 °C. NaOH (1.043 g, 26.1 mmol) was added, followed by di-tert-butyl dicarbonate (5.69 g, 26.1 mmol) over 10 min. The reaction mixture was stirred for 17 h at ambient temperature. The resulting crystals were collected by filtration, washed with cold water and dried under vacuum to give the product. To obtain further product, the aqueous washings were extracted with Et_2O (2 × 50 mL), and the combined organic extracts were concentrated. The resulting residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc, 30:1) to give further product. The total yield was 5.6 g (82%), m.p. 78-79 °C. IR: v = 3367, 1694, 1509, 1254, 1171, 1029 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.38-7.31 (m, 4 H), 7.31-7.26 (m, 1 H), 4.90 (s, 1 H), 4.51 (s, 2 H), 3.63 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 2 H), 1.85 (t, J = 5.7 Hz, 2 H), 1.41 (s, 9 H), $0.81-0.69 \text{ (m, 2 H)}, 0.68-0.59 \text{ (m, } J = 5.8 \text{ Hz}, 2 \text{ H)} \text{ ppm.}^{-13}\text{C NMR}$ $(101 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3)$: $\delta = 155.6, 138.6, 128.4, 127.5, 79.1, 72.9, 68.3,$ 36.2, 31.3, 28.4, 13.6 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₇H₂₆NO₃⁺ [M + H]⁺ 292.1907; found 292.1910.

tert-Butyl *N*-[1-(2-Hydroxyethyl)cyclopropyl]carbamate: *tert*-Butyl *N*-{1-[2-(benzyloxy)ethyl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (326 mg, 1.12 mmol) was dissolved in methanol (21 mL) in a pressure reactor under an argon atmosphere, and Pd/C (5%; 28 mg) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred for 3 d under H₂ gas (up to 21 bar pressure). The reaction mixture was filtered through Celite[#], and the filtrate was concentrated to give the product (224 mg, 99%) as a white solid. The analytical data matched those reported in the literature. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 4.97 (s, 1 H), 4.05 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 3.71 (q, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 2 H), 1.63 (t, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2 H), 1.44 (s, 9 H), 0.87–0.70 (m, 4 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz,



CDCl₃): δ = 157.4, 80.0, 59.7, 41.1, 29.7, 28.3, 14.1 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₀H₂₀NO₃⁺ [M + H]⁺ 202.1438; found 202.1432.

tert-Butyl N-[1-(2-Oxoethyl)cyclopropyl]carbamate (1b): tert-Butyl N-[1-(2-hydroxyethyl)cyclopropyl]carbamate (347 mg, 1.72 mmol) and molecular sieves (3 Å) were suspended in CH₂Cl₂ (33 mL) and NaHCO₃ (1.065 g, 12.68 mmol) and then Dess-Martin periodinane (1.567 g, 3.69 mmol) were added. The mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temp., then it was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (30 mL), and poured into saturated NaHCO₃ solution (50 mL) containing sodium thiosulfate (9 g). The resulting mixture was stirred for 10 min, and then it was filtered through Celite®. The phases were separated, and the aqueous layer was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (2× 30 mL), and passed through a phase separator. The residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (heptane/EtOAc, 4:1) to give **1b** (290 mg, 84%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 9.85$ (t, J = 1.5 Hz, 1 H), 5.11 (s, 1 H), 2.67 (s, 2 H), 1.42 (s, 9 H), 0.92-0.87 (m, 2 H), 0.72 (q, J = 5.4 Hz, 2 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 201.5$, 155.7, 79.8, 51.1, 28.51, 28.46, 13.6 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{10}H_{18}NO_3^+$ [M + H]⁺ 200.1281; found 200.1278.

General Procedure A: In a 1.5 mL reactor, aldehyde **1b** (1.2 equiv., 37 mg, 0.19 mmol), nitro olefin **2** (1 equiv., 0.15 mmol), cocatalyst **10** (10 mol-%, 7.7 mg, 0.015 mmol), and catalyst **7** (10 mol-%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (0.4 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 1–7 d at room temp, and then it was diluted with methanol (3 mL), and cooled to 0 °C. NaBH₄(8.8 mg, 0.23 mmol) was added, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temp. for 25 min. The reaction was quenched with satd. aq. NH₄Cl solution (3 mL), then the mixture was diluted with water (3 mL), and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 × 10 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried with Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography using a mixture of CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc or hexane/EtOAc.

General Procedure B: In a 1.5 mL reactor, aldehyde **1b** (1.2 equiv., 37 mg, 0.19 mmol), nitro olefin **2** (1 equiv., 0.15 mmol), cocatalyst **10** (10 mol-%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol), and catalyst **7** (10 mol-%, 5.7 mg, 0.015 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (0.4 mL). The reaction mixture was directly purified by silica gel column chromatography using a mixture of heptane/EtOAc.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-1-Hydroxy-4-nitro-3-phenylbutan-2yllcyclopropyl}carbamate (6a): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (41 mg, 74%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 95:5) with an ee of 99% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/*i*PrOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 7.4 (minor), 8.9 (major) min]. $[a]_{D}^{25} = -9.5$ (c = 1.00, acetone), m.p. 173–176 °C. IR: $\tilde{v} = 3349, 3270, 1681, 1556, 1368, 1285, 1257, 1166, 1066, 1032,$ 763 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, [D₆]acetone): $\delta = 7.35-7.26$ (m, 4 H), 7.26-7.20 (m, 1 H), 6.84 (s, 1 H), 5.68-5.57 (m, 1 H), 4.96 (t, J = 12.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.35 (dd, J = 7.5, 4.5 Hz, 1 H), 3.58 (td, J =11.7, 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 3.36-3.24 (m, J = 10.1 Hz, 1 H), 3.23-3.09 (m, 1 H), 1.49-1.45 (m, J = 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 1.44 (s, 9 H), 1.05-0.94 (m, 3 H), 0.94–0.87 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, [D₆]acetone): $\delta = 158.6, 140.3, 129.4, 129.1, 128.1, 80.2, 80.0, 63.7, 51.7, 45.4,$ 32.0, 28.5, 14.85, 14.77 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₇N₂O₅+ [M + H]⁺ 351.1914; found 351.1895.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2*R*,3*S*)-1-Hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-4-nitrobutan-2-yl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (6b): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (42 mg, 70%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (*dr* 89:11)

FULL PAPER

with an *ee* of 98% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Chiralcel AS-H; hexane/EtOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 7.5 (minor), 9.0 (major) min]. IR: $\bar{\nu}$ = 3342, 3246, 1681, 1557, 1381, 1368, 1287, 1177, 1072, 1033 cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.05 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2 H), 6.82 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2 H), 5.01 (dd, J = 12.7, 5.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.95 (s, 1 H), 4.54 (dd, J = 12.7, 9.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.95 (s, 3 H), 3.53 (td, J = 10.0, 5.7 Hz, 1 H), 3.37–3.26 (m, 2 H), 1.41 (s, 9 H), 1.32–1.24 (m, 1 H), 1.11 (ddt, J = 15.8, 12.6, 6.2 Hz, 2 H), 0.85–0.77 (m, 1 H), 0.66–0.58 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 159.3, 157.4, 129.8, 128.9, 114.6, 80.7, 80.0, 62.9, 55.4, 51.4, 44.1, 31.6, 28.4, 15.2, 14.7 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₉H₂₉N₂O₆⁺ [M + H]⁺ 381.2023; found 381.2023.

N-{1-[(2R,3S)-3-(2-Bromophenyl)-1-hydroxy-4-nitrotert-Butyl butan-2-yl|cyclopropyl}carbamate (6c): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (43 mg, 65%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 95:5) with an ee of 99% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/*i*PrOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R} = 7.7$ (minor), 8.5 (major) min]. $[a]_{D}^{25} = -10.8$ (c = 1.00, CHCl₃), m.p. 191–193 °C. IR: \tilde{v} = 3401, 3324, 1685, 1554, 1515, 1380, 1367, 1167, 1071, 1027, 762 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, $[D_6]$ acetone): $\delta = 7.58$ (dd, J = 8.0, 1.2 Hz, 2 H), 7.37 (t, J = 8.1 Hz, 1 H), 7.20–7.13 (m, 1 H), 7.02 (s, 1 H), 5.60 (dd, J = 13.4, 4.5 Hz, 1 H), 5.06 (t, J =12.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.36 (dd, J = 9.9, 4.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.30 (td, J = 11.7, 5.0 Hz, 1 H), 3.63-3.50 (m, 1 H), 3.02 (td, J = 11.6, 4.5 Hz, 1 H), 1.51 (td, J = 10.6, 4.6 Hz, 1 H), 1.45 (s, 9 H), 1.06-0.93 (m, 3 H), 0.91–0.84 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, [D₆]acetone): δ = 158.7, 140.0, 133.9, 129.7, 129.1, 128.9, 126.8, 80.0, 79.3, 62.7, 53.1, 43.0, 31.3, 28.6, 14.9, 14.1 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₅BrN₂O₅Na⁺ [M + Na]⁺ 451.0839; found 451.0839.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-3-(4-Chlorophenvl)-1-hvdroxy-4-nitrobutan-2-vl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (6d): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (47 mg, 78%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 95:5) with an ee of 98% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Chiralcel OJ-H; hexane/*i*PrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; t_R = 16.4 (minor), 18.4 (major) min]. $[a]_D^{25} = -15.8$ (c = 1.00, CHCl₃), m.p. 163–166 °C. IR: v = 3400, 1689, 1555, 1494, 1368, 1165, 1087, 1015, 833 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.29 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2 H), 7.10 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2 H), 5.09 (dd, J = 12.9, 5.3 Hz, 1 H), 5.04 (s, 1 H), 4.56 (dd, J = 12.8, 10.0 Hz, 1 H), 4.22 (s, 1 H), 3.60 (td, J = 10.2, 5.4 Hz, 1 H), 3.30 (s, 2 H), 1.43 (s, 9 H), 1.34–1.26 (m, 1 H), 1.20–1.11 (m, 1 H), 1.07 (dt, J = 10.2, 6.4 Hz, 1 H), 0.94–0.79 (m, 1 H), 0.71–0.56 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 157.4, 136.6, 134.0, 129.4, 129.3, 80.9, 79.7, 62.9, 51.2, 44.2,$ 31.6, 28.4, 15.13, 15.08 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{18}H_{26}ClN_2O_5^+$ [M + H]⁺ 385.1525; found 385.1522.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2*R*,3*S*)-3-(3-Bromophenyl)-1-hydroxy-4-nitrobutan-2-yl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (6e): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (37 mg, 56%) as a pale yellow crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (*dr* 94:6) with an *ee* of 99% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H; hexane/iPrOH, 95:5; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R} = 15.2$ (minor), 17.0 (major) min]. [*a*]²⁵₂ = -11.9 (*c* = 1.00, CHCl₃), m.p. 74–76 °C. IR: $\tilde{v} = 3254$, 1689, 1555, 1367, 1286, 1256, 1165, 1074, 789, 670 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.40$ (*d*, J = 7.7 Hz, 1 H), 7.31 (s, 1 H), 7.19 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1 H), 7.10 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1 H), 5.19–5.03 (m, 2 H), 4.56 (dd, J = 13.0, 9.8 Hz, 1 H), 3.56 (td, J = 15.2, 10.0, 5.0 Hz, 1 H), 1.11 (ddt, J = 28.4, 9.9, 6.2 Hz, 2 H), 0.92–0.80 (m, 1 H), 0.69–0.59 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C

NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 157.5, 140.5, 131.3, 130.9, 130.8, 126.7, 123.3, 80.9, 79.5, 62.9, 51.2, 44.3, 31.4, 28.4, 15.1, 15.0 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{18}H_{26}BrN_2O_5^+$ [M + H]⁺ 429.1020; found 429.1012.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-1-Hydroxy-4-nitro-3-(4-nitrophenyl)butan-2-yl|cyclopropyl}carbamate (6f): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (42 mg, 69%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 95:5) with an ee of 98% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H; hexane/*i*PrOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R} = 13.5$ (minor), 22.8 (major) min]. $[a]_{D}^{25} = -12.3$ (c = 1.00, CHCl₃), m.p. 170-176 °C. IR: v = 3231, 1678, 1557, 1524, 1378, 1348, 1290, 1256, 1162, 700 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 8.19 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 1 H), 7.38 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2 H), 5.24 (dd, J = 13.1, 5.0 Hz, 2 H), 5.12 (s, 1 H), 4.63 (dd, J = 13.1, 10.4 Hz, 1 H), 4.09 (t, J =6.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.79 (td, J = 10.6, 5.0 Hz, 1 H), 3.38-3.17 (m, 2 H), 1.44 (s, 9 H), 1.36–1.27 (m, 1 H), 1.15 (dt, J = 10.4, 6.3 Hz, 1 H), 1.06 (dt, J = 9.8, 6.2 Hz, 1 H), 1.01–0.94 (m, 1 H), 0.69 (ddd, J =10.0, 6.6, 5.3 Hz, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 157.4, 147.7, 145.8, 129.1, 124.4, 81.1, 79.2, 62.8, 51.1, 44.3, 31.8, 28.4, 15.7, 15.0 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₈H₂₆N₃O₇⁺ [M + H]+ 396.1765; found 396.1760.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3R)-3-(Furan-2-yl)-1-hydroxy-4-nitrobutan-2vl[cvclopropvl]carbamate (6g): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (41 mg, 79%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 80:20) with an ee of 97% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/*i*PrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 12.0 (minor), 12.7 (major) min]. IR: v = 3337, 3250, 1678, 1558, 1538, 1368, 1288, 1166, 1090, 751 cm⁻¹. For major diastereoisomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.36 (d, J = 1.3 Hz, 1 H), 6.31 (dd, J = 3.1, 1.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.18 (d, J = 3.1 Hz, 1 H), 4.90 (dd, J = 12.9, 5.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.85 (s, 1 H), 4.66 (dd, J = 12.8, 9.5 Hz, 1 H), 4.31 (dd, J = 9.4, 5.1 Hz, 1 H), 3.88-3.74 (m, 1 H), 3.47 (pd, J = 12.2)4.8 Hz, 2 H), 1.40 (s, 9 H), 1.39–1.35 (m, 1 H), 1.10 (ddt, J = 25.2, 9.9, 6.1 Hz, 2 H), 0.84–0.76 (m, 1 H), 0.61 (ddd, J = 9.9, 6.8, 5.3 Hz, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 157.4, 151.1, 142.6, 110.7, 108.6, 80.6, 77.4, 62.2, 50.2, 38.7, 32.0, 28.3, 15.9, 14.1 ppm. For minor diastereoisomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, $CDCl_3$): $\delta = 7.38$ (d, J = 1.3 Hz, 1 H), 6.33 (dd, J = 3.2, 1.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.20 (d, J = 3.2 Hz, 1 H), 4.85 (s, 1 H), 4.73 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1 H), 4.71 (s, 1 H), 4.58 (dd, J = 8.5, 6.6 Hz, 1 H), 3.88-3.74 (m, 2 H), 3.64 (ddd, J = 12.3, 8.5, 6.6 Hz, 1 H), 1.43 (s, 9 H), 1.34–1.28 (m, 1 H), 1.03–0.96 (m, 1 H), 0.90 (dt, J = 10.0, 6.5 Hz, 1 H), 0.29 (ddd, J = 10.3, 6.8, 5.6 Hz, 1 H), 0.22–0.15 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 157.8$, 151.9, 142.1, 110.9, 108.0, 80.9, 76.6, 62.5, 50.3, 38.0, 32.3, 28.4, 14.5 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{16}H_{25}N_2O_6^+$ [M + H]⁺ 341.1707; found 341.1708.

tert-Butyl *N*-{1-[(2*R*,3*R*)-1-Hydroxy-4-nitro-3-(thiophen-2-yl)butan-2-yl]cyclopropy]}carbamate (6h): Synthesised according to general procedure A using 15 mol-% of both catalyst and cocatalyst. The product was isolated (41 mg, 75%) as a white crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (*dr* 86:14) with an *ee* of 94% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/iPrOH, 85:15; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_R = 8.3$ (minor), 9.8 (major) min]. IR: $\hat{v} = 3346$, 3253, 1679, 1558, 1440, 1368, 1090, 714 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.23$ (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1 H), 6.94 (dd, J = 12.9, 5.7 Hz, 1 H), 6.88 (dd, J = 3.4, 0.8 Hz, 1 H), 5.04 (dd, J = 12.9, 5.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.87 (s, 1 H), 4.58 (dd, J = 12.9, 9.3 Hz, 1 H), 4.80 (td, J = 9.5, 5.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.50 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2 H), 1.42 (s, 9 H), 1.31 (dt, J = 9.6, 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.20–1.05 (m, 2 H), 0.89–0.82 (m, 1 H), 0.66 (ddd, J = 10.0, 6.8;

5.4 Hz, 1 H) ppm. $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 157.4, 140.8, 127.3, 126.6, 125.3, 80.8, 80.4, 62.6, 52.3, 40.3, 31.8, 28.4, 15.5, 14.6 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $\mathrm{C_{16}H_{25}N_2O_5S^+}$ [M + H]+ 357.1479; found 357.1477.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-4-Nitro-1-oxo-3-(pyridin-3-yl)butan-2yl|cyclopropyl}carbamate (5i): Synthesised according to general procedure B. The product was isolated (30 mg, 56%) as a yellow viscous resin, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 88:12). IR: v = 3213, 1714, 1556, 1368, 1252, 1166, 1078, 756 cm⁻¹. For major diastereoisomer: 93% ee [HPLC: Chiralcel AS-H; hexane/EtOH, 93:7; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; t_R = 18.8 (minor), 23.8 (major) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 9.54$ (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1 H), 8.53-8.47 (m, 2 H), 7.59 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H), 7.25-7.22 (m, 1 H), 5.61 (dd, J = 13.2, 3.7 Hz, 1 H), 5.17 (s, 1 H), 4.85 (dd, J = 12.9, 10.4 Hz, 1 H), 4.02 (td, J = 10.0, 3.7 Hz, 1 H), 2.30 (d, J = 10.7 Hz, 1 H), 1.42 (s, 9 H), 1.34–1.25 (m, 1 H), 1.02–0.92 (m, J = 17.7, 9.3 Hz, 2 H), 0.92-0.85 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, $CDCl_3$): $\delta = 199.76, 156.0, 149.7, 149.5, 136.2, 133.4, 124.0, 80.6,$ 78.3, 61.1, 40.0, 30.8, 28.3, 15.2, 14.2 ppm. For minor diastereoisomer: 91% ee [HPLC: Chiralcel AS-H; hexane/EtOH, 93:7; 1 mL/ min; 25 °C; 210 nm; t_R = 14.4 (minor), 16.2 (major) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.95 (s, 1 H), 8.58–8.45 (m, 2 H), 7.59 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H), 7.30 (dd, J = 7.8, 4.9 Hz, 1 H), 5.17 (s, 1 H), 5.02 (dd, J = 13.2, 2.7 Hz, 1 H), 4.80-4.72 (m, 1 H), 4.14-4.07 (m, 1 H)H), 2.17 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.41 (s, 9 H), 1.13–1.01 (m, 2 H), 0.42 (dt, J = 10.2, 6.4 Hz, 1 H), 0.26 (dt, J = 10.0, 6.5 Hz, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 199.83, 155.8, 150.0, 149.6, 135.6, 133.8, 123.9, 80.6, 77.8, 59.9, 39.8, 31.7, 28.3, 16.5, 13.3 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{17}H_{24}N_3O_5^+$ [M + H]⁺ 350.1710; found 350.1709.

N-{1-[(2R,3S)-1-Hydroxy-3-(naphthalen-1-yl)-4-nitrotert-Butyl butan-2-yl]cyclopropyl]carbamate (6j): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (46 mg, 74%) as a yellow-brown crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 85:15) with an ee of 93% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Lux Amylose-2; hexane/iPrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 230 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 13.7 (minor), 18.2 (major) min]. IR: \tilde{v} = 3417, 1689, 1555, 1500, 1368, 1256, 1162, 781 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 8.21 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1 H), 7.87 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1 H), 7.78 (d, J =8.2 Hz, 1 H), 7.59 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1 H), 7.52 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H), 7.44 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 1 H), 7.33 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1 H), 5.21–5.11 (m, 1 H), 5.01 (s, 1 H), 4.76–4.65 (m, 2 H), 4.18 (dd, J = 9.1, 4.1 Hz, 1 H), 3.33 (dtd, J = 15.7, 12.4, 4.1 Hz, 2 H), 1.55–1.49 (m, 1 H), 1.42 (s, 9 H), 1.21-1.08 (m, 2 H), 0.87-0.72 (m, 2 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 157.5$, 134.8, 134.3, 131.9, 129.4, 128.5, 127.0, 126.2, 125.5, 124.1, 122.4, 80.6, 79.8, 62.6, 52.8, 37.2, 31.6, 28.4, 15.6, 14.8 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₂₂H₂₉N₂O₅⁺ [M + H]⁺ 401.2071; found 401.2071.

tert-Butyl *N*-{1-[(2*R*,3*S*)-1-Hydroxy-3-(nitromethyl)-5-phenylpent-4yn-2-yl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (6k): Synthesised according to general procedure A. The product was isolated (50 mg, 86%) as a beige crystalline solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (*dr* 69:31). IR: \tilde{v} = 3264, 1681, 1558, 1367, 1170, 757, 692 cm⁻¹. For major diastereoisomer: 97% *ee* [HPLC: Chiraleel OD-H; hexane/iPrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; t_R = 9.6 (minor), 10.6 (major) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.43–7.37 (m, 2 H), 7.34– 7.27 (m, 3 H), 5.26 (s, 1 H), 4.71–4.55 (m, 2 H), 3.94 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 10.1 Hz, 1 H), 3.84 (dd, *J* = 12.1, 4.7 Hz, 1 H), 3.81–3.71 (m, 1 H), 1.38 (s, 9 H), 1.24–1.18 (m, 2 H), 1.16–1.09 (m, 1 H), 0.92–0.76 (m, 1 H), 0.60 (ddd, *J* = 9.9, 6.9, 5.3 Hz, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 157.4, 131.80, 128.84, 128.46, 122.2, 86.6, 84.5, 80.7, 77.6, 61.3, 49.7, 33.2, 32.7, 28.3, 17.0, 13.1 ppm. For



minor diastereoisomer: 65% *ee* [HPLC: Chiralcel OD-H; hexane/ *i*PrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R} = 12.8$ (major), 14.7 (minor) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.43-7.37$ (m, 2 H), 7.34–7.27 (m, 3 H), 5.23 (s, 1 H), 4.71–4.55 (m, 2 H), 3.81–3.71 (m, 2 H), 3.62 (td, J = 8.1, 6.0 Hz, 1 H), 1.40 (s, 9 H), 1.30–1.25 (m, 1 H), 1.16–1.09 (m, 1 H), 1.03 (dt, J = 9.8, 6.4 Hz, 1 H), 0.92– 0.76 (m, J = 15.7, 11.6, 11.1, 5.9 Hz, 2 H) pm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 157.7$, 131.78, 128.79, 128.51, 122.4, 86.3, 85.4, 80.9, 77.4, 62.7, 49.3, 32.6, 31.9, 28.3, 16.2, 14.5 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₂₀H₂₇N₂O₅⁺ [M + H]⁺ 375.1914; found 375.1911.

Ethyl (2R,3R)-3-{1-[(tert-Butoxycarbonyl)amino]cyclopropyl}-2-(nitromethyl)-4-oxobutanoate (51): Synthesised according to general procedure B. The product was isolated (30 mg, 57%) as a vellow viscous liquid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 72:28). IR: \tilde{v} = 3377, 1714, 1557, 1371, 1251, 1166, 1078 cm-1. For major diastereoisomer: 99% ee [HPLC: Chiralcel OD-H; hexane/iPrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 7.6 (major), 10.3 (minor) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.89 (s, 1 H), 5.26–5.17 (m, 1 H), 5.00 (dd, J = 14.7, 2.6 Hz, 1 H), 4.88 (s, 1 H), 4.29–4.11 (m, 2 H), 3.71-3.63 (m, 1 H), 2.35 (d, J = 9.0 Hz, 1 H), 1.40 (s, 9 H), 1.26 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3 H), 1.16–1.11 (m, 1 H), 1.09–1.02 (m, 1 H), 1.01-0.94 (m, 1 H), 0.86-0.75 (m, 1 H) ppm. 13C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 199.2, 171.2, 155.9, 80.7, 73.4, 62.17, 57.3,$ 41.8, 30.4, 28.3, 14.6, 14.1, 14.0 ppm. For minor diastereoisomer: 92% ee [HPLC: Chiralcel OD-H; hexane/iPrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 9.1 (major), 20.5 (minor) min]. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 9.86 (s, 1 H), 4.88 (s, 1 H), 4.75–4.69 (m, 2 H), 4.29-4.11 (m, 2 H), 3.79 (td, J = 8.8, 5.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.97 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1 H), 1.40 (s, 9 H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3 H), 1.26 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H), 1.22-1.17 (m, 1 H), 0.86-0.75 (m, 1 H), 0.69-0.64 (m, 1 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 198.0, 171.4, 155.6, 80.5, 73.5, 62.2, 58.3, 41.0, 29.8, 28.3, 15.1, 14.1, 14.0 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₅H₂₅N₂O₇⁺ [M + H]⁺ 345.1656; found 345.1652.

tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3R)-3-Cyclohexyl-4-nitro-1-oxobutan-2-yl]cyclopropyl}carbamate (5m): Synthesised according to general procedure B using 15 mol-% of both catalyst and cocatalyst. The product was isolated (26 mg, 47%) as a yellow solid, as a mixture of diastereoisomers (dr 83:17) with an ee of 99% for the major diastereoisomer [HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H; hexane/iPrOH, 98:2; 1 mL/ min; 25 °C; 210 nm; $t_{\rm R}$ = 25.7 (minor), 29.0 (major) min]. IR: \tilde{v} = 3390, 2929, 1707, 1555, 1368, 1169 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, $CDCl_3$): $\delta = 9.78$ (d, J = 3.4 Hz, 1 H), 4.99 (s, 1 H), 4.74 (dd, J =13.7, 4.8 Hz, 1 H), 4.59 (dd, J = 14.0, 6.3 Hz, 1 H), 2.99 (d, J = 9.5 Hz, 1 H), 1.87 (dd, J = 10.6, 3.4 Hz, 1 H), 1.79–1.63 (m, 5 H), 1.58–1.44 (m, 1 H), 1.42 (s, 9 H), 1.28–0.73 (m, 9 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 201.4, 155.7, 80.3, 75.1, 59.7, 40.6, 39.4, 31.4, 31.2, 28.4, 27.7, 26.7, 26.5, 26.3, 16.3, 14.0 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{18}H_{31}N_2O_5^+$ [M + H]⁺ 355.2227; found 355.2221.

Methyl (2*R*,3*S*)-2-{1-[(*tert*-Butoxycarbonyl)amino]cyclopropyl}-4nitro-3-phenylbutanoate (11)

Step 1: tert-Butyl N-[1-(2-oxoethyl)-cyclopropyl]carbamate (1b) (1.05 equiv., 209 mg, 1.05 mmol), (*E*)-(2-nitrovinyl)benzene (2a) (1 equiv., 149 mg, 1.00 mmol), (*S*)-2-{[(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy]-diphenylmethyl}pyrrolidine (7) (10 mol-%, 37 mg, 0.10 mmol), and 1,3-bis[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]thiourea (10) (10 mol-%, 50 mg, 0.10 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (2.5 mL). The mixture was stirred at room temp. until TLC indicated full conversion. After 24 h, the reaction was complete. The mixture was directly purified by silica gel column chromatography using a mixture of heptane and EtOAc as eluent to give compound 5a (299 mg, 86%) as a white solid, *dr* 95:5 and 98% *ee.* ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 1745-1753

= 9.44 (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1 H), 7.35–7.27 (m, 3 H), 7.25–7.21 (m, 2 H), 5.65 (dd, J = 13.0, 4.4 Hz, 1 H), 5.02 (s, 1 H), 4.83 (dd, J = 12.9, 9.9 Hz, 1 H), 3.96 (td, J = 10.5, 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 2.25 (d, J = 11.5 Hz, 1 H), 1.45 (s, 9 H), 1.35–1.29 (m, 1 H), 0.97–0.80 (m, 3 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 201.2$, 155.9, 136.9, 129.4, 128.4, 128.3, 80.4, 79.0, 61.4, 42.8, 31.0, 28.4, 15.2, 14.2 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for $C_{18}H_{25}N_2O_5^+$ [M + H]⁺ 349.1758; found 349.1794.

Step 2: tert-Butyl N-{1-[(2R,3S)-4-nitro-1-oxo-3-phenylbutan-2-yl]cyclopropyl}carbamate 5a (35 mg, 0.1 mmol) and oxone (74 mg, 0.120 mmol) were suspended in MeOH, and the mixture was stirred at room temp. until TLC indicated full conversion. The mixture was filtered, the filter residue was washed with CH2Cl2, and the combined filtrates were concentrated. The resulting residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (heptane/EtOAc, 10:1 to 5:1) to give the product (18 mg, 48%) as a white solid. The enantiomeric purity was retained as 98% ee [HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H; hexane/*i*PrOH, 90:10; 1 mL/min; 25 °C; $t_{\rm R}$ (minor) = 6.44 min; $t_{\rm R}$ (major) = 7.28 min]. IR: \tilde{v} = 3384, 2979, 1715, 1555, 1434, 1367, 1270, 1161, 1031, 701 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.31–7.15 (m, 5 H), 5.78 (dd, J = 12.9, 4.1 Hz, 1 H), 5.33 (s, 1 H), 4.74 (dd, J = 12.9, 10.5 Hz, 1 H), 3.97-3.87 (m, 1 H), 3.35 (s, 3 H), 2.20 (d, J = 11.9 Hz, 1 H), 1.68-1.58 (m, 1 H), 1.48(s, 9 H), 0.96 (ddd, J = 7.6, 6.2, 1.7 Hz, 1 H), 0.79–0.72 (m, 2 H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 172.5, 155.9, 137.4, 128.8, 128.2, 128.1, 80.3, 78.6, 56.8, 51.9, 44.0, 31.7, 28.5, 16.6, 13.5 ppm. HRMS (ESI): calcd. for C₁₉H₂₇N₂O₆⁺ [M + H]⁺ 379.1864; found 379.1839.

Supporting Information (see footnote on the first page of this article): ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra, HPLC chromatograms.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (grant numbers IUT 19-32 and IUT 19-9) and the European Union (EU) (European Regional Development Fund, grant 3.2.0101.08-0017) for financial support. Dr. Aleksander-Mati Müürisepp and Ms. Tiina Aid from Tallinn University of Technology are thanked for assistance with MS and IR measurments, respectively.

- For a general review, see: a) J. J. Li (Ed.), Name Reactions for Carbocyclic Ring Formation, John Wiley & Sons, 2010, p. 24– 44. For asymmetric reactions, see: b) M. Rachwalski, S. Kaczmarczyk, S. Leśniak, P. Kiełbasiski, ChemCatChem 2014, 6, 873–875; c) M. Cheeseman, F. J. P. Feuillet, A. L. Johnson, S. D. Bull, Chem. Commun. 2005, 18, 2372–2374; d) M.-C. Lacasse, C. Poulard, A. B. Charette, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 12440–12441; e) H. Y. Kim, P. J. Walsh, Acc. Chem. Res. 2012, 45, 1533–1547.
- [2] a) R. C. Dhakal, R. K. Dieter, J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 12426– 12439; b) R. A. Maurya, J. S. Kapure, P. R. Adiyala, P. S. Srikanth, D. Chandrasekhar, A. Kamal, RSC Adv. 2013, 3, 15600–15603; c) R. Herchl, M. Waser, Tetrahedron Lett. 2013, 54, 2472–2475; d) A. Russo, S. Meninno, C. Tedesco, A. Lattanzi, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 5096–5103; e) C. D. Papageorgiou, M. A. Cubillode Dios, S. V. Ley, M. J. Gaunt, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4641–4644; Angew. Chem. 2004, 116, 4741–4744.
- [3] a) V. F. Ferreira, R. A. C. Leão, F. de C. da Silva, S. Pinheiro, P. Lhoste, D. Sinou, *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2007, 18, 1217– 1223; b) P. Müller, G. Bernardinelli, Y. F. Allenbach, M. Ferri, H. D. Flack, Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1725–1728.

- [4] General: a) O. G. Kulinkovich, Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2597–2632; b) O. G. Kulinkovich, A. de Meijere, Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2789–2834; c) A. Wolan, Y. Six, Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 159–61; d) A. Wolan, Y. Six, Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 3097–3133; e) M. Kordes, H. Winsel, A. de Meijere, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 3235–3245. Asymmetric reactions: f) Y. A. Konik, D. G. Kananovich, O. G. Kulinkovich, Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 6673–6678; g) D. J. Aitken, L. Drouin, S. Goretta, R. Guillot, J. Ollivier, M. Spiga, Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 7517–7524.
- [5] a) D. J. Aitken, J. Royer, H.-P. Husson, J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2814–2820; b) D. J. Aitken, F. Vergne, A. S. Phimmanao, D. Guillaume, H.-P. Husson, Synlett 1993, 599–601; c) D. J. Aitken, D. Guillaume, H.-P. Husson, Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 6375–6380.
- [6] a) K. Burgess, K.-K. Ho, J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5931–5936;
 b) K. Burgess, D. Lim, K.-K. Ho, C.-Y. Ke, J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 2179–2185.
- [7] H. Pellissier, Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 7041-7095.
- [8] a) X. Yang, Z. Chen, Y. Cai, Y.-Y. Huang, N. Shibata, Green Chem. 2014, 16, 4530–4534; b) S. Strompen, M. Weiβ, H. Gröger, L. Hilterhaus, A. Liese, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 2391–2399; c) D. Enders, C. Wang, J. X. Liebich, Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 11058–11076.
- [9] a) E. Juaristi, V. A. Soloshonok, *Enantioselective Synthesis of Beta-Amino Acids*, Wiley, **2005**; b) S. M. Kim, J. W. Yang, Org. Biomol. Chem. **2013**, 11, 4737–4749; c) F. Gnad, O. Reiser, Chem. Rev. **2003**, 103, 1603–1623.
- [10] a) A. B. Charette, B. Cote, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12721– 12732; b) L. A. Adams, V. K. Aggarwal, R. V. Bonnert, B. Bressel, R. J. Cox, J. Shepherd, J. de Vicente, M. Walter, W. G. Whittingham, C. L. Winn, J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9433–9440; c) J. B. Schwarz, S. E. Gibbons, S. R. Graham, N. L. Colbry, P. R. Guzzo, V.-D. Le, M. G. Vartanian, J. J. Kinsora, S. M. Lotarski, Z. Li, M. R. Dickerson, T.-Z Su, M. L. Weber, A. El-Kattan, A. J. Thorpe, S. D. Donevan, C. P. Taylor, D. J. Wustrow. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 3026–3035.
- [11] K. Reitel, K. Lippur, I. Järving, M. Kudrjašova, M. Lopp, T. Kanger, *Synthesis* 2013, 45, 2679–2683.
- [12] For γ-amino acids, see: a) S. De Brabandere, S. Mangelinckx, S. T. Kadam, Y. Nural, K. Augustyns, P. Van der Veken, K. W. Törnroos, N. De Kimpe, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2014, 1220–1226; b) D. J. Aitken, S. D. Bull, I. R. Davies, L. Drouin, J. Ollivier, J. Peed, *Synlett* 2010, 2729–2732; c) V. Rodriguez-Soria, L. Quintero, F. Sartillo-Piscil, *Tetrahedron* 2008, 64, 2750–2754; d) M. K. N. Qureshi, M. D. Smith, *Chem. Commun.* 2006, 5006–5008.
- [13] Y. G. Gu, Y. He, N. Yin, D. C. Alexander, J. B. Cross, C. A. Metcalf III, R. Busch, WO 2013149136 A1.
- [14] a) H. Uehara, C. F. Barbas III, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9848–9852; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 10032–10036; b) R. H. Uehara, C. F. Barbas III, Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 5250–5253.
- [15] D. Seebach, J. Goliński, Helv. Chim. Acta 1981, 64, 1413-1423.
- [16] a) K. Patora-Komisarska, M. Benohoud, H. Ishikawa, D. Seebach, Y. Hayashi, *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2011**, *94*, 719–745; b) J. Burés, A. Armstrong, D. G. Blackmond, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 8822–8825.
- [17] G. Sahoo, H. Rahaman, Á. Madarász, I. Pápai, M. Melarto, A. Valkonen, P. M. Pihko, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 13144–13148; Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 13321–13325.
- [18] For general reviews, see: a) L. Kiss, F. Fülöp, *Chem. Rev.* 2014, 114, 1116–1169; b) F. Fülöp, T. A. Martinek, G. K. Tóth, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2006, 35, 323–334.
- [19] a) T. Satoh, S. Suzuki, Y. Suzuki, Y. Miyaji, Z. Imai, *Tetrahe-dron Lett.* **1969**, 10, 4555–4558; b) A. Giannis, K. Sandhoff, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. **1989**, 28, 218–220; Angew. Chem. **1989**, 101, 220–222; c) S. Nagarajan, B. Ganem, J. Org. Chem. **1986**, 51, 4856–4861.
- [20] a) S. Zhu, S. Yu, Y. Wang, D. Ma, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 4656–4660; Angew. Chem. 2010, 122, 4760–4764; b) T.

1752 www.eurjoc.org

© 2015 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim



Kano, H. Sugimoto, O. Tokuda, K. Maruoka, *Chem. Commun.* 2013, 49, 7028–7030.

- [21] F. Felluga, F. Ghelfi, G. Pitacco, F. Roncaglia, E. Valentin, C. D. Venneri, *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2010, 21, 2183–2191.
- [22] CCDC-1030370 contains the supplementary crystallographic data for this paper. These data can be obtained free of charge

from The Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/data_request/cif.

[23] T. R. Krishna, N. Jayaraman, J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9694– 9704.

[24] P. Bertus, J. Szymoniak, J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3965–3968.
 Received: October 23, 2014
 Published Online: January 29, 2015

Publication III

Reitel, K.; Kriis, K.; Järving, I.; Kanger, T. Study of asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β -ketoester *Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds* **2018**, *54*, 929-933.

Reprinted with permission from Springer.

Study of the asymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone and β -keto ester

Kärt Reitel¹, Kadri Kriis¹, Ivar Järving¹, Tõnis Kanger^{1*}

¹ Tallinn University of Technology,
 15 Akadeemia tee, Tallinn 12618, Estonia; e-mail: tonis.kanger@ttu.ee

Published in Khimiya Geterotsiklicheskikh Soedinenii, 2018, *54*(10), 929–933

Submitted August 31, 2018 Accepted October 4, 2018



Various asymmetric organocatalytic approaches for the [3+2] annulation of 1,2-diphenylcyclopropen-3-one and ethyl 3-oxo-3-phenylpropanoate have been investigated, resulting in the formation of ethyl 2-(5-oxo-2,3,4-triphenyl-2,5-dihydrofuran-2-yl)acetate in moderate yield and low enantiomeric purity.

Keywords: chiral ammonium salt, cyclopropenone, asymmetric reaction, organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation, phase-transfer catalysis.

Cyclopropenones¹ are versatile three-carbon synthons in numerous chemical transformations due to their amphiphilic properties – they can react with both electrophiles and nucleophiles. So far, the organocatalytic [3+2] cycloaddition² with the cleavage of the C–C single bond has been used to synthesize pyrrolinone derivatives.³ The organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenones and β -keto esters provides a direct approach to highly substituted butenolides⁴ with excellent chemoselectivity. The butenolide core has been identified as the structural motif in many pharmaceutical and natural products, such as butyrolactone I,⁵ triptolide⁶ and its water soluble prodrug analog.⁷

Lin et al. developed a nonasymmetric organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of cyclopropenone 1 and β -keto ester 2 for the construction of highly substituted butenolide 3 in racemic form with excellent chemoselectivity (Scheme 1).⁴ They proposed a plausible mechanism of the reaction. The key intermediate is obtained *via* a ring opening of the cyclopropenone by an O-nucleophile attack of the enolate. The quaternary stereogenic center is formed in the following intramolecular Michael addition, leading to butenolide 3.

Organocatalysis offers a range of asymmetric methods for the activation of the reaction including the formation of covalently bound discrete intermediates or the creation of hydrogen-bonded networks to induce enantiodiscrimination of the transition state. Both starting compounds can be activated independently or fixed *via* a bifunctional catalyst into one catalytic complex. For carbonyl or 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds, thioureas or squaramides are often used;⁸ for the formation of enolates, chiral bases are exploited.⁹ Bifunctional catalysts,¹⁰ such as cinchona alkaloid-based thioureas, make possible the simultaneous activation of electrophiles *via* the hydrogen bonds and nucleophiles *via* the protonation of a basic tertiary amine in a quinuclidine fragment. Considering the ionic nature of the key intermediate, phase-transfer catalysis with a chiral quaternary ammonium¹¹ or phosphonium salts¹² are also an option.



Herein we describe our studies on the asymmetric organocatalytic synthesis of butenolide **3**. Catalysts explored for the synthesis are depicted in Figure 1.

We started our studies with an H-bonding catalysis. The model reaction between diphenylcyclopropenone 1 (0.15 mmol) and β -keto ester 2 (0.1 mmol) was carried out

Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds 2018, 54(10), 929-933



Figure 1. Catalysts explored for the synthesis of compound 3.

in the presence of 20 mol % thiourea¹³ I in CH_2Cl_2 (1 ml) at room temperature. The structure of an alkaloid containing thiourea allows for simultaneous combination of the chiral base (tertiary amine) for the enolate formation and H-bonding for the activation of the cyclopropenone (thiourea unit). Unfortunately, there was no reaction during 24 h at ambient temperature in the presence of catalyst I or II (20 mol %). Even the addition of 20 mol % of DBU afforded no product.

Therefore, we shifted our attention to chiral base catalysis. Bifunctional catalyst **III** is based on a cyclopropenimine scaffold and its basicity is comparable to guanidines.¹⁴ In addition to its high Lewis basicity, it is also a hydrogen bond donor.¹⁵ The reaction catalyzed by cyclopropenimine **III** gave racemic product **3** in moderate yield (Table 1, entry 1). Monofunctional chiral guanidine **IV** (Table 1, entry 2) afforded low yield and selectivity.

 Table 1. Catalytic methods for the asymmetric synthesis of compound 3*

Ph 1	+ Ph Pr		alyst ase l_2Cl_2 24 h Ph	Ph CO ₂ Et
Entry	Catalyst	Base	Isolated yield, %	ee,** %
1	Ш	-	62***	rac^{*^4}
2* ⁵	IV	-	31	6
3*6	V	DABCO	ND	rac
4* ⁶	VI	K_2CO_3	31	6
5* ⁷	VI	DBU	52	rac
6	VII	50% aq KOH	28	10
7	VIIId	50% aq KOH	8	24
8	IX	50% aq KOH	12	10

* Reaction conditions: compounds **1** (0.15 mmol), **2** (0.1 mmol), catalyst (20 mol %), base (20 mol %) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.0 ml).

** Enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis.

*** Conversion was determined from the ratio of compound **3** to **2** by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in the crude mixture.

*⁴ Enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC for the sample isolated by preparative TLC from the crude mixture.

*5 Reaction was carried out at 60°C.

*6 Reaction time 10 days.

*⁷ Reaction time 5 h.

The aminocatalysts V and VI were also tested, but the racemic product **3** was obtained in low or moderate yields over a very long reaction time (Table 1, entries 3, 4). In the presence of DBU, a nonselective background reaction dominated leading to the fast formation of the racemic product (Table 1, entry 5).

The use of chiral ammonium salt-based phase-transfer catalysts (PTCs) has contributed significantly to the field of asymmetric catalysis.¹¹ PTCs are capable of stereoselective and noncovalent activation of enolates, and the vast majority of such catalysts contain an additional hydroxyl group as the second coordination site.¹⁶ Chiral phosphonium salts possess similar properties and are also widely used in asymmetric catalysis.¹² In the presence of PTC, a biphasic system of 50% aqueous solution of KOH and CH₂Cl₂ was used. Reaction catalyzed by phosphonium salt VII17 afforded product 3 with low yield and enantioselectivity (Table 1, entry 6). The highest enantiomeric purity of compound 3 was achieved with cinchona alkaloid-derived ammonium salt VIIId under basic conditions (Table 1, entry 7). The bifunctional thiourea - cinchona alkaloidcontaining catalyst IX afforded low enantioselectivity with low yield (Table 1, entry 8).

The obtained results revealed that the use of PTCs could be the method of choice. Next, the influence of various substutents at the nitrogen atom of the alkaloid catalyst was investigated (Table 2). A benzyl-derived catalyst gave low conversion to compound 3 and low enantioselectivity (Table 2, entry 1). The catalyst with electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl groups in the aromatic ring (Table 2, entry 2) provided racemic product 3 with low conversion. A minimal change in selectivity and conversion was obtained with 2-naphthyl-substituted catalyst (Table 2, entry 3). The bulkier R group at the nitrogen atom made the catalyst more selective (Table 2, entry 4) with similar results in terms of conversion to compound 3. A catalyst containing anthracen-9-yl moiety VIIId was chosen for further screening; the yield increased when DME and THF were used, but the selectivity dropped, affording racemic product 3 in both cases (Table 2, entries 5, 6). Using PhMe as a solvent made the reaction slower and the enantioselectivity decreased (Table 2, entry 7). In most cases, the elongation of the reaction time did not improve the outcome.

Table 2. Catalyst screening for the asymmetric synthesis of compound 3*



Anthracen-9-vl * Reaction conditions: compounds 1 (0.15 mmol), 2 (0.1 mmol), catalyst (20 mol %), solvent (1.0 ml).

18

Δ

** Conversion was determined from the ratio of compound 3 to 2 by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in the crude mixture.

*** Enantiomeric ratio was determined by chiral HPLC analysis of the sample isolated by preparative TLC from the crude mixture.

*4 Reaction time, 1 h.

PhMe

0

7

We then turned our attention to improving the efficiency of the reaction and investigated the influence of the base on the selectivity of the model reaction in the presence of 20 mol % of catalyst VIIId. The results of the screening experiments are presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Base screening for the asymmetric synthesis of compound 3*

Entry	Solvent	Base (equiv)	Conversion,** %	ee,*** %
1	$CH_2Cl_2 \\$	50% aq KOH (0.2)	22	24
2	PhMe	50% aq KOH (0.2)	18^{*4}	4
3	PhMe	KOH (2)	99	8
4	$CH_2Cl_2 \\$	$CsCO_3(5)$	99* ⁵	rac
5	PhMe	$CsCO_3(5)$	99* ⁵	rac
6	PhMe	CsCO ₃ (0.2)	42	rac
7	CH_2Cl_2	CsCO3 (0.2)	14	4
8	$CH_2Cl_2 \\$	K ₃ PO ₄ ·H ₂ O (0.2)	14	19
9	CH_2Cl_2	Potassium citrate tribasic monohydrate (0.2)	ND	rac
10	$CH_2Cl_2 \\$	t-BuOLi (0.2)	89	rac
11	CH ₂ Cl ₂	LiOH · H ₂ O (0.2)	90	rac

* Reaction conditions: compounds 1 (0.15 mmol), 2 (0.1 mmol), catalyst VIIId (20 mol %), and base in solvent (1.0 ml) were stirred at ambient temperature for 24 h.

* Conversion was determined from the ratio of compound 3 to 2 by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in the crude mixture.

*** Enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis of the sample isolated by preparative TLC from the crude mixture.

*4 Reaction was carried out at 0°C. *5 Reaction time 1 h.

A 0.2 equiv of the 50% aqueous solution of KOH in CH₂Cl₂ afforded low conversion to compound 3 with 24% enantioselectivity (Table 3, entry 1). When the reaction was conducted in PhMe, the conversion was similar to the one in the aforementioned entry, but the selectivity decreased (ee of compound 3 is 4%, Table 3, entry 2). The use of solid KOH afforded high yield but decreased the enantioselectivity (Table 3, entry 3). Almost full conversion was obtained at room temperature in the presence of 5 equiv of Cs_2CO_3 , but the product was racemic (Table 3, entries 4, 5). Lowering the amount of the base decreased the conversion to 42% affording racemic product 3 (Table 3, entry 6). The only reaction in the presence of Cs₂CO₃ that led to nonracemic product was carried out in CH₂Cl₂, but the enantiomeric purity of the product was still low (Table 3, entry 7). Then, different potassium salts were screened (Table 3, entries 8, 9), but the conversions and selectivities were lower compared to that obtained with KOH (Table 3, entry 1). Next, Li salts were evaluated (Table 3, entries 10, 11); the conversion determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy increased and racemic products were obtained.

The highest enantiomeric purity of compound 3 was achieved with cinchona alkaloid-derived ammonium salt VIIId in the presence of a 0.2 equiv of 50% ag KOH (Table 4, entry 1). We decided to investigate the influence of the 50% aq KOH loading on the yield and selectivity. Results are shown in Table 4. Increasing the amount of the base to 0.5 equiv afforded product 3 with the same selectivity, but in higher yield (Table 4, entry 2).

When the base loading was increased to 0.6 equiv, product 3 was formed in 2 h with no change in enantioselectivity or yield (Table 4, entry 3). Further increasing of the base loading up to 1 equiv led to a faster reaction and after 1 h, full conversion was achieved sacrificing enantioselectivity, which decreased from 24 to 15% (Table 4, entry 4).

In conclusion, the organocatalyzed [3+2] annulation of 2,3-diphenylcycloprop-2-en-1-one and ethyl 3-oxo-3-phenylpropanoate was investigated, resulting in the formation of

Table 4. Influence of the KOH amount on the conversion, yield, and ee of compound 3*



Entry	50% aq KOH, equiv	Time, h	Conversion,** %	Isolated yield, %	ee,*** %
1	0.2	24	22	8	24
2	0.5	2	84	54	24
3	0.6	2	94	54	24
4	1	1	99	60	15

* Reaction conditions: compounds 1 (0.15 mmol), 2 (0.1 mmol), catalyst VIIId (20 mol %), 50% aq KOH in CH₂Cl₂ (1.0 ml) were stirred at room temperature

Conversion was determined from the ratio of compound 3 to 2 by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in the crude mixture.

*** Enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC analysis.

chiral ethyl 2-(5-oxo-2,3,4-triphenyl-2,5-dihydrofuran-2-yl)acetate with low to moderate yield. In spite of various asymmetric organocatalytic methods and optimization procedures applied to achieve enantioselectivity, the enantiomeric purity of the target compound remained low. The best results were obtained using sterically demanding phase-transfer catalyst $1-{(1S)-[(2S,4S,5R)-1-benzyl-5-ethyl$ $azabicyclo[2.2.2]octan-2-yl](6-methoxyquinolin-4-yl)methyl}-$ 3-[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]thiourea bromide inCH₂Cl₂/aq KOH biphasic system. The dependence betweenthe base loading, reaction time, and selectivity wasobserved – a higher base loading afforded faster reactionand lower enantioselectivity.

Experimental

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra, as well as all 2D experiments, were recorded on a Bruker Avance III 400 instrument (400 and 100 MHz, respectively) in CDCl₃ or CD₃OD, using TMS or residual solvent signals as internal standards (CDCl₃: 7.26 ppm for ¹H nuclei, 77.16 ppm for ¹³C nuclei; CD₃OD: 3.31 ppm for ¹H nuclei, 49.00 ppm for ¹³C nuclei). All peak assignments were confirmed by ¹H-¹H COSY. ¹H-¹³C HSQC and ¹H-¹³C HMBC experiments. Highresolution mass spectra (ESI) were recorded on an Agilent Technologies 6540 UHD Accurate-Mass Q-TOF LC/MS spectrometer. Optical rotations were measured on an Anton Paar GWB Polarimeter MCP500. Enantiomeric excess of compound 3 was determined by chiral HPLC (Chiralcel OD-H 250 \times 4.6 mm column, eluent hexane-*i*-PrOH, 9:1, flow rate 1 ml/min, λ 254 nm). Retention time of the major enantiomer $t_{\rm R}$ 8.72 min, minor enantiomer $t_{\rm R}$ 12.65 min. TLC was performed on precoated silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ plates, and Kieselgel 40-63 µm silica gel was used for column chromatography. The reactions were carried out under air atmosphere without additional moisture elimination unless stated otherwise.

Purchased chemicals and solvents were used as received. Chiral catalysts I_{i}^{17} II_{i}^{18} III_{i}^{12} $V_{i}^{19,20}$ VII_{i}^{17} $VIII^{21}$ were prepared according to the corresponding literature procedures. Analytical data were in accordance to the reported. Atom numbering in the assignments of the synthesized compounds is depicted in the Supplementary information file.

Ethyl 2-(5-oxo-2,3,4-triphenyl-2,5-dihydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (3) (General method). To a 4-ml test tube, cyclopropenone 1 (30.9 mg, 0.15 mmol), β -keto ester 2 (19.2 mg, 0.1 mmol), catalyst (0.02 mmol, 20 mol %), base (0.2-5.0 equiv), and solvent (1 ml) were sequentially added. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for the indicated time. Completion of the reaction monitored by TLC and ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The solvent was removed under reduce pressure and the crude mixture purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel to afford the pure product, eluent petroleum ether - EtOAc, 20:1. Colorless oil. ¹H NMR spectrum (CDCl₃), δ , ppm (*J*, Hz): 1.22 (3H, t, J = 7.1, CH₃); 3.28 (1H, d, J = 15.4, CCH₂C=O); 3.40 (1H, d, J = 15.4, CCH₂C=O); 4.16 (2H, qd, J = 7.1, J = 4.7, OCH₂CH₃); 6.82–6.85 (2H, m, H Ph); 7.20-7.27 (7H, m, H Ph); 7.29-7.34 (1H, m, H Ph); 7.347.42 (5H, m, H Ph). ¹³C NMR spectrum (CDCl₃), δ , ppm: 14.3 (OCH₂<u>C</u>H₃); 40.1 (CH₂); 61.3 (O<u>C</u>H₂CH₃); 87.0 (C-3); 125.7 (2C Ph); 127.5 (Ph); 128.3 (2C Ph); 128.7 (3C Ph); 128.8 (4C Ph); 129.0 (C Ph); 129.3 (2C Ph); 129.4 (C Ph); 129.7 (C Ph); 131.7 (C Ph); 137.2 (C-4); 162.9 (C-5); 168.3 (C(1)=O); 171.9 (C(7)=O). Found, *m/z*: 399.1599 [M+H]⁺. C₂₆H₂₃O₄. Calculated, *m/z*: 399.1591.

1-{(1S)-[(2S,4S,5R)-1-Benzyl-5-ethylazabicyclo[2,2,2]octan-2-yl](6-methoxyquinolin-4-yl)methyl}-3-[3,5-bis-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]thiourea bromide (IX) was synthesized by a reported method.^{22,23} Yellow solid, mp 134°C, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ –67.2 (*c* 0.09 CHCl₃). ¹H NMR spectrum (CD₃OD), δ, ppm (J, Hz): 0.87 (3H, t, J = 7.4, CH₂CH₃); 1.12–1.20 (1H, m, 7-CH₂); 1.41-1.53 (2H, m, CH₂CH₃); 1.85-1.89 (2H, m, 3,4-CH); 1.92-2.02 (1H, m, 5-CH₂); 2.06-2.20 (1+1H overlapping signals, m, 5,7-CH₂); 3.18-3.27 (1H, m, 6-CH₂); 3.40-3.51 (1H, m, 2-CH₂); 3.75-3.84 (1H, m, 6-CH₂); 4.08 (3H, s, OCH₃); 4.68 (1H, d, J = 12.8, CH₂Ph); 4.88–4.92 (2H, m, 2-CH₂, 8-CH); 5.21 (1H, d, J = 12.7, CH₂Ph); 7.30 (1H, d, J = 10.5, 9-CH); 7.52 (1H, dd, J = 9.3, J = 2.3, H-7'; 7.55–7.57 (3H, m, H-3,5 Ph, H-4"); 7.60–7.65 (3H, m, H-2,4,6 Ph); 7.75 (1H, d, J = 4.8, H-3'); 7.93 (2H, br. s, H-2",6"); 8.02 (1H, d, J = 9.2, H-8'); 8.15 (1H, br. d, H-5'); 8.81 (1H, d, J = 4.7, H-2'). ¹³C NMR spectrum (CD₃OD), δ, ppm (J, Hz): 11.5 (CH₂CH₃); 25.6 (C-4); 26.0 (C-5); 26.1 (CH₂CH₃); 28.8 (C-7); 36.4 (C-3); 51.2 (C-2); 55.7 (C-9); 56.9 (OCH₃); 63.7 (C-6); 66.9 (<u>CH</u>₂Ph); 70.6 (C-8); 103.8 (C-5'); 119.1 (br. s, C-4"); 121.0 (C-3'); 124.5 (q, $J = 272.0, 2CF_3$); 124.6 (C-7'); 124.7 (br. s, C-2",6"); 128.6 (C-4a'); 128.8 (C-1 Ph); 130.5 (C-3,5 Ph); 131.8 (C-8'); 131.9 (C-4 Ph); 132.9 (q, J = 34.0, C-3",5"); 134.7 (C-2,6 Ph); 142.3 (C-1"); 145.1 (C-4'); 145.9 (C-8a'); 148.7 (C-2'); 160.6 (C-6'). Signal of the C=S atom was not identified due to the weak peak signal (low solubility of the compound in CD₃OD). Found, m/z: 687.2587 [M-Br]⁺. C₃₆H₃₇F₆N₄OS. Calculated, *m/z*: 687.2586.

Supplementary information file containing ¹H and ¹³C spectra of both compounds and HPLC chromatogram of racemic compound **3** is available at the journal website at http://link.springer.com/journal/10593.

The authors thank the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (Grant Nos. IUT 19-32, IUT 19-9, and PUT1468) and the Centre of Excellence in Molecular Cell Engineering 2014-2020.4.01.15-0013 for financial support.

References

- 1. Komatsu, K.; Kitagawa, T. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 1371.
- Xu, J.; Cao, J.; Fang, C.; Lu, T.: Du, D. Org. Chem. Front. 2017, 4, 560.
- (a) Cunha, S.; Serafim, J. C.; Botelho de Santana, L. L.; Damasceno, F.; Correia, J. T. M.; Santos, A. O.; Oliveira, M.; Ribeiro, J.; Amparo, J.; Costa, S. L. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **2017**, *54*, 3700. (b) Nakhla, M. C.; Wood, J. L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 18504.
- 4. Li, X.; Han, C.; Yao, H.; Lin, A. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 778.
- Braña, M. F.; García, M. L.; López, B. L.; Pascual-Teresa, B. D.; Ramos, A.; Pozuelo, J. M.; Domínguez, M. T. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 1864.

- Kupchan, S. M.; Court, W. A.; Dailey, R. G.; Gilmore, J. C. J.; Bryan, R. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 7194.
- Patil, S.; Lis, L. G.; Schumacher, R. J.; Norris, B. J.; Morgan, M. L.; Cuellar, R. A. D.; Blazar, B. R.; Suryanarayanan, R.; Gurvich, V. J.; Georg, G. I. *J. Med. Chem.* **2015**, *58*, 9334.
- 8. Doyle, A. G; Jacobsen, E. N. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5713.
- (a) Alemán, J.; Parra, A.; Jiang, H.; Jørgensen, K. A. Chem.– Eur. J. 2011, 17, 6890. (b) Zhang, X.; Chen, Y.-H.; Tan, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2018, 59, 473.
- (a) Serdyuk, O. V.; Heckel, C. M.; Tsogoeva, S. B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2013, 2, 7051. (b) Held, F. E.; Tsogoeva, S. B. Catal. Sci. Technol. 2016, 6, 645.
- 11. Ooi, T.; Maruoka, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4222.
- 12. Golandaj, A.; Ahmad, A.; Ramjugernath, D. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2017, 359, 3676.
- 13. Wang, H.-Y.; Chai, Z.; Zhao, G. Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 5104.
- 14. Bandar, J. S.; Lambert, T. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 5552.

- Ošeka, M.; Kimm, M.; Järving, I.; Lippur, K.; Kanger, T. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 2889.
- Claraz, A.; Oudeyer, V.; Levacher, V. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 841.
- Wu, X.; Liu, Q.; Liu, Y.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, J.; Cao, W.; Zhao, G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 2701.
- Vakulya, B.; Varga, S.; Csámpai, A.; Soós, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1967.
- 19. Tripathi, B. C.; Mukherjee, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 8450.
- Cassani, C.; Martín-Rapún, R.; Arceo, E.; Bravo, F.; Melchiorre, P. *Nat. Protoc.* 2013, *8*, 325.
- 21. Denmark, S. E.; Weintraub, R. C. Heterocycles 2011, 82, 1527.
- Manna, M. S.; Mukherjee, S. J Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 130.
- Wang, B.; Xu, T.; Zhu, L.; Lan, Y.; Wang, J.; Lu, N.; Wei, Z.; Lin, Y.; Duan, H. Org. Chem. Front. 2017, 4, 1266.

Curriculum vitae

Personal data

Name: Kärt Reitel

Date of birth: 22.02.1982

Place of birth: Estonia

Citizenship: Estonian

Contact data

E-mail: kart.reitel@gmail.com

Education

2008–2019 Tallinn University of Technology – PhD

2004–2008 Tallinn University of Technology – MSC

2000–2004 Tallinn University of Technology – BSC

1997–2000 Tallinn Secondary School of Science – high school diploma

Language competence

Estonian Native speaker

English Fluent

Russian Beginner

Professional employment

2017–2018 TalTech, Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology, junior researcher

2015–2017 TUT, Department of Chemistry, junior researcher

2008–2015 TUT, Department of Chemistry, researcher

2005–2008 TUT, Department of Chemistry, laboratory assistant

Supervised theses

2009–2012 Mikk Kaasik, BSc thesis, defended in TUT

Elulookirjeldus

Isikuandmed

Nimi: Kärt Reitel

Sünniaeg: 22.02.1982

Sünnikoht: Eesti

Kodakondsus: Eesti

Kontaktandmed

E-post: kart.reitel@gmail.com

Hariduskäik

2008–2019 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool – PhD

2004–2008 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool – MSC

2000–2004 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool – BSC

1997–2000 Tallinna Reaalkool – keskharidus

Keelteoskus

Eesti keel – emakeel

Inglise keel – kõrgtase

Vene keel – algtase

Teenistuskäik

2017–2018 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Keemia ja biotehnoloogia instituut, nooremteadur

2015–2017 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Keemiainstituut, nooremteadur

2008–2015 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Keemiainstituut, teadur

2005–2008 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Keemiainstituut, laborant

Juhendatud lõputööd

2009–2012 Mikk Kaasik bakalauereusetöö, kaitstud TTÜ-s